## Lanthanides and Actinides in Ionic Liquids

## Koen Binnemans\*

Department of Chemistry, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Celestijnenlaan 200F, B-3001 Leuven, Belgium

Received August 1, 2006

## Contents

1. Introduction	2592
2. Solvation and Solubility	2594
2.1. Solvation	2594
2.2. Solubility	2596
2.3. Lanthanide Complexes as Major Ionic Liq Components	uid 2597
2.4. Bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide Complexe	s 2597
3. Spectroscopic Properties	2598
3.1. Trivalent Lanthanide Ions	2598
3.2. Divalent Lanthanide Ions	2599
3.3. Uranium	2599
3.4. Other Actinides	2600
4. Redox Behavior and Electrodeposition of Met	tals 2600
4.1. Redox Behavior of Lanthanides	2600
4.2. Redox Behavior of Uranium	2600
4.3. Redox Behavior of the Other Actinides	2601
4.4. Electrodeposition	2601
5. Solvent Extraction	2602
6. Treatment of Spent Nuclear Fuel	2603
7. Lanthanide-Mediated Organic Reactions	2605
7.1. C–C Bond Formation	2605
7.1.1. Friedel–Crafts Reactions	2605
7.1.2. Diels–Alder Reactions	2606
7.1.3. Other C–C Bond-Forming Reactions	2607
7.2. C–X Bond Formation	2609
7.3. Oxidation and Reduction Reactions	2609
7.4. Polymerization Reactions	2610
8. Applications in Materials Sciences	2610
9. Conclusions and Outlook	2611
10. Abbreviations	2611
11. Acknowledgment	2611
12. Note Added in Proof	2611
13. References	2612

## 1. Introduction

*Ionic liquids* are salts with a low melting point (below 100 °C).<sup>1–6</sup> Several types of ionic liquids are liquid at room temperature (*room-temperature ionic liquids* or RTILs). The cations of ionic liquids are often large organic cations, like imidazolium,<sup>1</sup> pyridinium,<sup>1</sup> pyrrolidinium,<sup>7</sup> quaternary ammonium,<sup>8</sup> or phosphonium ions<sup>9,10</sup> (Figure 1). Especially the 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ions are often used as the cationic part of ionic liquids.<sup>1,4</sup> Whereas Cl<sup>-</sup> and Br<sup>-</sup> yield hydrophilic ionic liquids (miscible with water), fluorinated

\* Fax: +32-16-32-7992. Phone: +32-16-32-7446. E-mail: Koen.Binnemans@chem.kuleuven.be.



Koen Binnemans was born in Geel, Belgium, in 1970. He obtained his M.Sc. degree (1992) and Ph.D. degree (1996) in Chemistry at the Catholic University of Leuven, under the direction of Prof. C. Görller-Walrand. In the period 1999–2005, he was a postdoctoral fellow of the Fund for Scientific Research Flanders (Belgium). He did postdoctoral work with Prof. Jacques Lucas (Rennes, France) and Prof. Duncan W. Bruce (Exeter, U.K.). In 2000, he received the first ERES Junior Award (ERES, European Rare-Earth and Actinide Society). From 2002 until 2005, he was (parttime) associate professor. Presently, he is professor of chemistry at the Catholic University of Leuven. His current research interests are metal-containing liquid crystals (metallomesogens), lanthanide-mediated organic reactions, lanthanide spectroscopy, supramolecular coordination chemistry, and ionic liquids.

anions like  $[PF_6]^-$  allow preparation of hydrophobic ionic liquids (immiscible with water).<sup>4</sup> The hydrophobicity of ionic liquids containing  $[BF_4]^-$  depends on the alkyl chain length of the associated cation.<sup>4</sup> Recently, the bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide anion,  $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]^-$  (abbreviated to  $[Tf_2N]^-$ ), has become a popular anion for synthesizing hydrophobic



Figure 1. Examples of cations commonly used in ionic liquids: (1) 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium; (2) 1-alkylpyridinium; (3) quaternary ammonium; (4) 1,1'-dialkylpyrrolidinium; (5) 1,1'-dialkylmorpholinium; (6) phosphonium.

10.1021/cr050979c CCC: \$65.00 © 2007 American Chemical Society Published on Web 05/23/2007





ionic liquids, because the resulting ionic liquids are chemically and thermally more robust than ionic liquids with  $[BF_4]^-$  and  $[PF_6]^-$  anions (Figure 2).<sup>11-14</sup>  $[Tf_2N]^-$ -containing ionic liquids have relatively low viscosities and high electrical conductivities. Due to their hydrophobicity, they can be dried to very low final water contents. Metal-containing species (anions or cations) can be an integral part of ionic liquids, not only in the chloroaluminate ionic liquids but in other types of ionic liquids as well.<sup>15</sup> Because the properties of ionic liquids (miscibility with water and other solvents, dissolving ability for metal salts, polarity, viscosity, density, etc.) can be tuned by an appropriate choice of the anion and the cation, ionic liquids can be considered as *designer solvents*.

The use of room-temperature ionic liquids in synthesis, catalysis, separations, and electrochemistry has become very common in recent years.<sup>1,4</sup> The vapor pressure of an ionic liquid is very low, so ionic liquids are nonvolatile and do not evaporate. However, ionic liquids can be distilled under high vacuum.<sup>16</sup> It has been proposed to use ionic liquids as environmentally friendly alternatives for volatile organic solvents.<sup>2,17-19</sup> Ionic liquids are fluid over a broad temperature range, from the melting point to the onset of thermal decomposition. Because many ionic liquids are nonflammable and nonexplosive, they are much safer to work with in the lab than the conventional organic solvents. However, one should keep in mind that only a limited number of indepth toxicological studies have been performed on ionic liquids, so one cannot state that ionic liquids are intrinsically "green solvents".<sup>20</sup> Ionic liquids with fluorinated anions, and especially those containing the hexafluorophosphate anion, are prone to hydrolysis.<sup>21</sup> This can lead to the formation of toxic and corrosive products like hydrogen fluoride. Due to their ionic nature, ionic liquids conduct electricity by ion migration. Ionic liquids have a very wide "electrochemical window", so they are very resistant to oxidation and reduction processes.<sup>22</sup> By dissolution of metal salts in ionic liquids, reactive metals can be deposited and purified by electrolysis.<sup>23</sup> Ionic liquids are polar solvents, and their polarity is comparable with that of the lower alcohols (npropanol, *n*-butanol, *n*-pentanol).<sup>24,25</sup> In contrast to other polar organic solvents, ionic liquids are weakly coordinating and weakly solvating solvents. Ionic liquids are good solvents for many organic and inorganic compounds.<sup>26–29</sup> Higher rates and better selectivity in selected ionic liquids than in classical solvents have been observed in the case of Friedel-Crafts reactions,<sup>30,31</sup> Diels-Alder reactions,<sup>32</sup> Heck reactions<sup>33</sup> and radical polymerizations.34 Catalysis in ionic liquids is a very popular research theme. $^{5,18,35-37}$  Ionic liquids can be applied

as extraction solvent in liquid–liquid solvent extraction processes for the separation of metal  $ions^{38-41}$  and as electrolytes in batteries<sup>42,43</sup> or in photovoltaic devices.<sup>44–46</sup>

The chloroaluminate ionic liquids should be mentioned here as well, because they are early examples of roomtemperature ionic liquids.<sup>1,47,48</sup> They can be prepared by combination of anhydrous aluminum chloride (AlCl<sub>3</sub>) with 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride, [C2mim]Cl,49 or with 1-butylpyridinium chloride, [BuPy]Cl.50 Although they suffer from an extreme sensitivity to even small amounts of water, these systems exhibit a very interesting chemistry. The Lewis acid-base properties of chloroaluminate ionic liquids depend on their composition or more particularly on the molar fraction of aluminum chloride. Melts with a molar excess of aluminum chloride are acidic because they contain coordinatively unsaturated species like [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>-</sup> that exhibit Lewis acidity. Melts with a molar excess of the organic salt are basic, because they contain chloride ions that are not coordinated to aluminum ("free" chloride ions). In acidic ionic liquid systems, the molar fraction of aluminum chloride is larger than 0.5, that is,  $X(AlCl_3) > 0.5$ , whereas in basic melts,  $X(AlCl_3) < 0.5$ . The composition with  $X(AlCl_3) =$ 0.5 is called neutral. In chloroaluminate ionic liquids, species like Cl<sup>-</sup>, [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, [Al<sub>3</sub>Cl<sub>10</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, and [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>6</sub>] can be detected. When metal salts are dissolved in basic chloroaluminate ionic liquids, anionic species tend to be formed (due to the presence of chloride ions), whereas cationic species dominate in acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids.

This review on lanthanides and actinides in ionic liquids intends to give an overview of the properties and applications of f-elements in room-temperature ionic liquids. Although many studies have been devoted to ionic liquids and their applications, only few researchers have explored the combination of ionic liquids with the coordination chemistry of lanthanides and actinides. However, this research field is emerging, and a review could be helpful to draw attention to the potential of incorporation of the f-elements in ionic liquid media. First, theoretical and experimental studies of the solvation of f-elements in ionic liquids are considered. The spectroscopic properties of lanthanide and actinide ions in ionic liquids are discussed with special emphasis on the luminescence properties. Due to their ionic nature and redox stability, ionic liquids can be used as solvents for lanthanide ions in unusual oxidation states. Metals of the f-elements and their allovs can be deposited for these solvents. The behavior of ionic liquids in solvent extraction of metal ions is compared with that of molecular solvents. The application of ionic liquids for the processing of spent nuclear fuel rods is considered. In this context, the stability of these solvents against radiation damage is an important issue. An overview of lanthanide-mediated organic reactions in ionic liquids is given. Finally, some applications in materials sciences are discussed. The behavior of lanthanides and actinides in hightemperature molten salts is outside the scope of this review. The literature has been covered until early January 2007.

The term f-elements (or f-block elements) is used to designate the lanthanides and actinides, because in this series of elements the 4f shell (lanthanides) or the 5f shell (actinides) is gradually filled. The lanthanides are the elements with an atomic number between 57 (lanthanum) and 71 (lutetium), whereas the actinides are the elements with an atomic number between 89 (actinium) and 103 (lawrencium). The term *rare earths* is used for the lanthanian series are the elements.

thanides in combination with scandium and yttrium. The coordination chemistry of the f-block elements quite differs from that of the (middle and late) d-block elements.<sup>51</sup> Although their exotic names might suggest that these elements are as toxic as other heavy metals, rare-earth salts have in fact a low acute and chronic toxicity.<sup>52</sup>

The use of ionic liquids as solvents for organic reactions is in accordance with the Twelve Principles of Green Chemistry,<sup>53</sup> but there are several reasons why the combinations of lanthanides and actinides with ionic liquids are relevant to green chemistry. Ionic liquids can replace the volatile and flammable kerosene fraction in solvent extraction processes that are used for the separation of rare-earth elements (fifth principle of green chemistry: safer solvents and auxiliaries). The production of rare-earth elements in their metallic state presently relies on high-temperature molten salt technology. Molten salt technology is also of importance for some steps in the processing of spent nuclear fuel rods. When the molten salts in these processes can be replaced by room-temperature ionic liquids, a huge saving in energy costs can be achieved (sixth principle of green chemistry: design for energy efficiency). Boron-containing ionic liquids have a large cross-section for neutron capture. The use of this type of ionic liquid for processing of spent nuclear fuel rods can greatly reduce the risk of criticality accidents (12th principle of green chemistry: inherently safer chemistry for accident prevention). In several classes of organic reactions where at least stoichiometric amounts of strong Lewis acids (e.g., AlCl<sub>3</sub> or FeCl<sub>3</sub>) are required, catalytic amounts of lanthanide salts can give the same yields. This results in the generation of much less acidic waste (ninth principle of green chemistry: catalysis; first principle of green chemistry: prevention). Cerium(IV) salts are much safer selective oxidants than transition metal salts like chromium(VI) salts and osmium tetroxide (third principle of green chemistry: less hazardous chemical syntheses).

#### 2. Solvation and Solubility

### 2.1. Solvation

Solvation of ions by solvent molecules is an important issue in the coordination chemistry of f-elements.<sup>54,55</sup> For instance, the stability of the trivalent lanthanide ions in aqueous solution can be attributed to the high hydration energy, which compensates for the energy that has to be invested to triply ionize these elements.<sup>56</sup> Solvation is also of importance to understand the behavior of f-elements under solvent extraction conditions. Chaumont and Wipff published detailed theoretical studies on this topic.<sup>57–62</sup> Their molecular dynamics calculations explicitly represent the solvent. Interesting conclusions were made on the basis of quantum mechanics and molecular dynamics calculations on trivalent lanthanide ions in the ionic liquids 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate, [C4mim][PF6], and 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium tetrachloroaluminate(III), [C<sub>2</sub>mim][AlCl<sub>4</sub>]. The latter ionic liquid is a neutral chloroaluminate ionic liquid, AlCl<sub>3</sub> and [C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl in 1:1 molar ratio. The calculations predict that the trivalent lanthanide ions, Ln<sup>3+</sup> (Ln = La, Eu, Yb), are surrounded by six  $[PF_6]^-$  anions in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] and by 11-13 imidazolium ions in the second ionic sphere.<sup>57</sup> It is also predicted that the "naked" lanthanide cations are poorly soluble in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>]. In [C<sub>2</sub>mim]-[AlCl<sub>4</sub>], the trivalent lanthanide ions are surrounded by eight [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> anions. The actual coordination number of the

lanthanide ions in these two ionic liquids depends on the ionic radius of the lanthanide and decreases with decreasing ionic radius. The  $[PF_6]^-$  and  $[AlCl_4]^-$  ions tend to be bidentate ligands for the large lanthanide ions and monodentate for the smaller metal ions, but both anions are weakly coordinating. Molecular dynamics calculations show that the  $[PF_6]^-$  anions rotate rapidly in the first ionic shell, but the  $[AlCl_4]^-$  anions do not. A subsequent study focused on the behavior of LnCl<sub>3</sub> and the charged  $[LnCl_n]^{3-n}$  species in ionic liquids (Ln = La, Eu, Yb).<sup>61</sup> The simulations reveal that the octahedral  $[LnCl_6]^{3-}$  complexes are important species in the  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  and  $[C_2mim][AlCl_4]$  ionic liquids. The  $[LnCl_6]^{3-}$  anions are surrounded by nine to ten imidazolium cations (Figure 3). The  $[LnCl_6]^{3-}$  complexes are unstable in the gas



**Figure 3.**  $[YbCl_6]^{3-}$  complex in  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$ . Snapshot of the first solvation shell of cations only (top) and of anions + cations (bottom). Adapted from Figure S3 in the Supporting Information of ref 59. Copyright 2004 American Chemical Society.

phase towards dissociation of one or two chloride ligands, but the complex is stabilized by solvation in an ionic liquid. The LnCl<sub>3</sub>, [LnCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, and [LnCl<sub>5</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> species do not dissociate in the ionic liquids, and their first ionic shell is completed by, respectively, three, two, and one [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup> ions and four, three, or one [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> ions for Ln = Eu. The [LnCl<sub>8</sub>]<sup>5-</sup> species tends to lose two chloride anions and to be transformed to the [LnCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup> species. However, the [LaCl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>4-</sup> species seems stable in [C<sub>2</sub>mim][AlCl<sub>4</sub>]. In basic AlCl<sub>3</sub>--[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids (i.e., a chloroaluminate ionic liquid with an excess of chloride ions), calculations predict the existence of different chloro complexes for Eu<sup>3+</sup> and Eu<sup>2+</sup>.<sup>60</sup> Lipsztajn and Osteryoung studied the solvation behavior of NdCl<sub>3</sub> in AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids.<sup>63</sup> In a "neutral basic" AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid (i.e., a 1:1 molar ratio, with a slight excess of the organic salt), the [NdCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3–</sup> species could be identified. In a "neutral acidic" AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid (i.e., a 1:1 molar ration, with a slight excess of AlCl<sub>3</sub>), no [NdCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3–</sup> complexes are present, but here the neodymium(III) ion is solvated by either [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>–</sup> or [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>–</sup>. Unfortunately, NdCl<sub>3</sub> has a very low solubility in these "neutral acidic" melts, so a detailed study was difficult.

Simulations show differences in solvation behavior in wet and dry ionic liquids.<sup>59</sup> As indicated above, the Eu<sup>3+</sup> is coordinated by  $[PF_6]^-$  anions in dry  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]$ . In a wet  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]$ , the Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion is surrounded by water molecules only, whereas the  $[PF_6]^-$  ions are in the second ionic shell and H-bonded to the coordinated water molecules. The  $[Eu(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$  complexes are embedded in a shell of seven or eight  $[PF_6]^-$  anions. In the case of the  $[EuCl_6]^{3-}$  complex in wet  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]$ , water molecules are in the first ionic shell, but  $[C_4mim]^+$  cations are not. Water can coordinate to [EuCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup>, so mixed aquo-chloro species are formed. Because the chloro species have a stronger tendency to interact with the water molecules present in the ionic liquid than with the ionic liquid molecules themselves, the chloro complexes are more soluble in wet than in dry ionic liquids. A molecular dynamics study of the solvation of the fluoro complexes  $[EuF_n]^{3-n}$  in the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$ revealed that the species with the highest fluorine content in the ionic liquid should be  $[EuF_6]^{3-.62}$  Complexes like  $[EuF_{10}]^{7-}$  and  $[EuF_7]^{4-}$  tend to lose fluoride ligands in ionic liquid solutions with the formation of the  $[EuF_6]^{3-}$  species. Fluoro species with less than six fluoro ligands bonded to the europium(III) ion contain  $[PF_6]^-$  anions in the first coordination sphere. The anionic complexes are surrounded by six to nine  $[C_4 mim]^+$  cations. The calculations show that the hexafluoro complexes are more stable than the corresponding hexachloro complexes. The crystal structure of tris-(1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium) hexachlorolanthanate(III), [C<sub>2</sub>mim][LaCl<sub>6</sub>], clearly shows the hydrogen bonding between the chloro atoms of the octahedral  $[LaCl_6]^{3-}$  moiety and the hydrogen atoms of the imidazolium ring (Figure 4).64



**Figure 4.** Molecular structure of tris(1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium) hexachlorolanthanate(III). The atomic coordinates were taken from ref 64.

A luminescence study of Eu<sup>3+</sup> in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim]-[Tf<sub>2</sub>N] indicates that water molecules instead of [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> anions coordinate to the europium(III) ion.<sup>65</sup> Addition of chloride ligands resulted in the formation of different chloro species. The luminescence spectrum of the complex formed at high chloride concentrations is similar to the spectrum of [EuCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup> in ethanol.<sup>66</sup> Gaillard and co-workers investigated by time-resolved luminescence spectroscopy and by EXAFS the influence of the anion in [C<sub>4</sub>mim]<sup>+</sup> ionic liquids on the first coordination sphere of the trivalent europium(III) ion, which was dissolved in the ionic liquids in the form of europium(III) triflate, Eu(OTf)<sub>3</sub>.<sup>67</sup> The experiments were supported by molecular dynamics calculations. EXAFS data

indicate that the coordination number of the europium(III) ion is between eight and nine in the ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim]- $[PF_6]$ ,  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ ,  $[C_4mim][OTf]$ , and  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ . The molecular dynamics simulations on both the "naked" Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion and on nondissociated Eu(OTf)<sub>3</sub> gave similar results. The calculations suggest that the triflate anions are coordinated to europium(III) in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] and dissociated in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. In contrast to the theoretical predictions, addition of chloride and fluoride ions to the europium(III)-containing  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  ionic liquid did not result in the formation of chloro or fluoro complexes. Trichloro complexes are formed in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and hexachloro complexes in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. Complex formation between Eu<sup>3+</sup> and chloride ligands could be observed in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf], but it was not possible to determine the exact stoichiometry. This study shows that kinetic effects are very important for complex formation between europium(III) and chloride ligands in ionic liquids. A correlation could be found between the viscosity of the ionic liquid and the number of chloride ligands bound to europium(III). In viscous ionic liquids, complex formation is slow, and it takes several days before thermodynamic equilibrium is reached. Probably for this reason no complex formation was observed during the experiments in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>], the most viscous ionic liquid studied.

The coordination chemistry of actinides in ionic liquids has recently been reviewed by Rogers and co-workers.68 Uranium(VI) oxide solubilizes in basic chloroaluminate ionic liquids to form a series of uranyl chloro complexes that can be formulated as  $[UO_2Cl_{4+x}]^{(2x+1)-}$ , where x = 0-2.69 The research groups of Seddon and Hussey studied the structure of the uranium salts 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium hexachlorouranate(IV), [C<sub>2</sub>mim]<sub>2</sub>[UCl<sub>6</sub>], and tetrachlorodioxouranium(VI), [C<sub>2</sub>mim]<sub>2</sub>[UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>].<sup>70</sup> The crystal structures of these compounds have been reported. A recent hydrogen bonding analysis of these complexes revealed that donor hydrogen atoms of low acidity, like the methylene protons of the ethyl group and the protons of the methyl group form C-H···Cl hydrogen bonds, whereas the much more acidic C2 proton of the imidazolium ring is not involved in hydrogen bonding.<sup>71,72</sup> In the  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$  group, the negative charge is concentrated on the four equatorial chloro ligands, rather than on the axial oxygen ligands.

The behavior of the [UO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>2+</sup>, UO<sub>2</sub>(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, and  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$  species in the ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  and [C<sub>2</sub>mim][AlCl<sub>4</sub>] were compared by using molecular dynamics calculations.<sup>58</sup> The calculations predict that the free uranyl ion in  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]$  is surrounded on average by six  $[PF_6]^$ anions and that these [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup> groups freely rotate. The free uranyl ion in [C<sub>2</sub>mim][AlCl<sub>4</sub>] is surrounded by a fairly rigid shell of [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> anions that shield the uranyl ion from the  $[C_2 mim]^+$  cations in the second shell. The first ionic shell of the neutral species  $UO_2(NO_3)_2$  and  $UO_2Cl_2$  consists mainly of  $[PF_6]^-$  or  $[AlCl_4]^-$  anions. The imidazolium cations efficiently solvate the [UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> complexes: each [UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> ion is surrounded by six to nine imidazolium cations. According to the molecular dynamics calculations, the solvation of the uranyl ion is different in dry and wet ionic liquids. In wet  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]$ , the uranyl ion forms  $[UO_2 (H_2O)_5]^{2+}$  complexes that are surrounded by eight  $[PF_6]^{-1}$ anions.<sup>59</sup> In the same wet ionic liquid, [UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> complexes are surrounded by a shell of water molecules, followed by a shell of  $[C_4 mim]^+$  cations. Simulations show that the  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$  complex is the dominating species in basic AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids.<sup>60</sup> Mizuoka and Ikeda assume that the uranyl ion exists in the dehydrated 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium nonafluorobutanesulfonate ionic liquid as a naked cation, with no ligands in its equatorial plane.<sup>73</sup> Experimental and theoretical studies on the interaction between the uranyl ion and fluorinated anions in acidic aqueous solutions have been performed to get insight in the ability of these ligands to coordinate to the uranyl ion in wet ionic liquids.<sup>74</sup> It was found that the [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> ion does not coordinate to the uranyl ion so that uranyl will be coordinated by water molecules in wet [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. However, [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [BF<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> are able to compete with water molecules for coordination to the uranyl ion. [UO<sub>2</sub>(PF<sub>6</sub>)]<sup>+</sup> and [UO<sub>2</sub>(BF<sub>4</sub>)]<sup>+</sup> can be formed.

Schurhammer and Wipff have investigated by molecular dynamics the solvation of the uranium hexachloro complexes  $[UCl_6]^{n-}$  (n = 1, 2, 3) in the hydrophobic ionic liquids  $[C_4 mim][Tf_2N]$  and  $[(CH_3)(C_4H_9)_3N][Tf_2N]$ .<sup>75</sup> The solvation of the complexes depends both on the uranium oxidation state and on the nature of the ionic liquid. The first coordination shell of  $[UCl_6]^{3-}$  contains only solvent cations. The first solvation shell is surrounded by a second shell that is mainly anionic in nature. The first solvation shell of the less charged [UCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup> complex is also positively charged but consists of a mixture of solvent cations and anions. The solvation behavior of  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  is intermediate between that of  $[UCl_6]^{3-}$  and  $[UCl_6]^{-}$ . Notice that  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  with uranium in its tetravalent state is chemically the most stable hexachloro complex of uranium. The calculations indicate that the hexachloro complexes are better solvated by [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] than by  $[(CH_3)(C_4H_9)_3N][Tf_2N]$ . The presence of water molecules has only little effect on the solvation of the  $[UCl_6]^{n-}$  species.

Upon dissolution of  $[C_4mim]_2[NpCl_6]$  and  $[C_4mim]_2[PuCl_6]$  in the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ , the octahedral hexachloro complexes  $[NpCl_6]^{2-}$  and  $[PuCl_6]^{2-}$  are preserved in solution.<sup>76</sup> These complexes are stable against hydrolysis in water in wet  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ . However, when  $[C_4mim]Cl$  is added to the  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$  ionic liquid, precipitation of solid compounds is observed. Although these solid compounds were not characterized in detail, it can be assumed that oligomeric or polymeric species with a chloride-to-metal ratio higher than six are formed. Time-resolved laser fluorescence spectroscopy data show that the coordination of curium(III) in the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$  is very similar to that of europium(III) in the same ionic liquid.<sup>77</sup>

#### 2.2. Solubility

Contrary to common belief, most ionic liquids are not "supersolvents" in which all kinds of materials including rocks can be dissolved without any problem. In fact, the solubility of common inorganic ionic compounds like sodium chloride in the classic imidazolium ionic liquids is very low.78 This low solubility is due to the poor solvating power of ionic liquids with weakly coordinating anions like  $[BF_4]^-$ ,  $[PF_6]^-$ , or  $[Tf_2N]^-$  and to the modest polarity of ionic liquids, which is comparable to that of the lower alcohols. The solubility of metal salts is better in ionic liquids with coordinating anions, like chloride ions. Chloroaluminate ionic liquids are good solvents for a range of transition metal salts, including lanthanide and actinide salts. The solubility of metal salts in so-called task-specific ionic liquids can be higher than that in the common types of ionic liquids, because the task-specific ionic liquids can be designed to exhibit

excellent metal-salt solubilizing power.<sup>79–82</sup> When assessing the solubility of metal salts in hydrophilic ionic liquids, one has to realize that these solvents tend to retain even after drying a non-negligible amount of water. High solubilities of ionic compounds in hydrophilic ionic liquids can often be attributed to the solubilizing properties of the water present and not to the ionic liquid itself. On the other hand, coordination complexes can be solubilized in ionic liquids, especially hydrophobic or anionic complexes. A trick to solubilize metal salts in an ionic liquid is to dissolve both the metal salt and the ionic liquid first in an organic solvent (or water), followed by evaporation of the solvent. Finally, it should not be forgotten that many ionic liquids have a high viscosity. The slow mass transfer in viscous ionic liquids can slow down the dissolution process of metal salts.

Afonso and co-workers investigated the solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> in different imidazolium ionic liquids, and the results show that the solubilities are very low.<sup>83</sup> For instance, in 100 g of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate, [C<sub>4</sub>mim]- $[PF_6]$ , only 0.658 mg of LaCl<sub>3</sub> can be dissolved at room temperature. The solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> in tetrafluoroborate ionic liquids is higher than that in the corresponding hexafluorophosphate ionic liquids. The presence of ether or hydroxyl functional groups in the alkyl chains of the cationic part of the ionic liquids enhances the solubility of salts, but in none of the cases the solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> is higher than 29 mg per 100 g of ionic liquid. This stands in contrast to the high solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> in water, 49.2 g per 100 g of water (at 25 °C)! Addition of poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) to an ionic liquid<sup>6</sup> can also increase the solubility of inorganic salts, but this has not been tested for lanthanide salts yet.

Tsuda and co-workers determined the solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> in AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids.<sup>84</sup> They observed the highest solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> in acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids, that is, systems where a high concentration of the [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>-</sup> anion is present. The highest solubility of LaCl<sub>3</sub> at 25 °C is 45 ± 5 mmol/kg, which corresponds to 1.1 g per 100 g of ionic liquid. The dissolution reaction is thought to be

$$LaCl_3 + 3[Al_2Cl_7]^{-} \rightleftharpoons La^{3+} + 6[AlCl_4]^{-}$$
(1)

Scandium(III) triflate is only slightly soluble in [C<sub>4</sub>mim]-[PF<sub>6</sub>], but it is well soluble in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim]-[OTf].<sup>85</sup> The same solubility behavior was reported for dysprosium(III) triflate.86 Mehdi et al. investigated the solubility of cerium(IV) salts in imidazolium ionic liquids.<sup>87</sup> The following cerium(IV) salts were selected: ammonium hexanitratocerate(IV), cerium(IV) sulfate dihydrate, cerium-(IV) ammonium sulfate, cerium(IV) ammonium sulfate dihydrate, cerium(IV) hydroxide, cerium(IV) triflate, and hydrated cerium(IV) triflate. A general observation is that cerium(IV) salts can only with difficulty be dissolved in imidazolium ionic liquids. Among the cerium(IV) salts that were investigated, only ammonium hexanitratocerate(IV) (CAN) and cerium(IV) triflate (anhydrous and hydrated) were well soluble. The triflate ionic liquids are the best choice to solubilize cerium(IV) salts.

There are only a limited number of data on the temperature dependence of the solubility of lanthanide salts in ionic liquids available, but there are indications that the solubility increases with increasing temperature (as is the case for the solubility in many other solvents). Mudring took advantage of this property to crystallize [mppyr]<sub>2</sub>[Yb(Tf<sub>2</sub>N)<sub>4</sub>] from a

solution of the ionic liquid 1-methyl-1-propylpyrrolidinium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, [mppyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>96</sup> Notice that this compound contains divalent ytterbium. The solubility of EuI<sub>2</sub> in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] was estimated to be 2 mmol  $L^{-1}$ .<sup>88</sup>

Very high solubilities of rare-earth oxides were observed in the task-specific ionic liquid protonated betaine bis-(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, [Hbet][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>89</sup> Hbet stands for (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>N<sup>+</sup>CH<sub>2</sub>COOH. The high solubility is due to the acid—base reaction between protonated betaine and the rareearth oxide Ln<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> so that complexes of the type [Ln(bet)<sub>3</sub>]-[Tf<sub>2</sub>N] are formed.

For LaCl<sub>3</sub> and Cs<sub>2</sub>UCl<sub>6</sub>, solutions of at least 0.05 mol L<sup>-1</sup> can be prepared in ethylammonium nitrate at 25 °C.<sup>90</sup> The tetravalent uranium in Cs<sub>2</sub>UCl<sub>6</sub> can be oxidized in this ionic liquid to uranyl by an oxygen flow:

$$U^{4+} + O_{2(g)} + 2 Cl^{-} \rightarrow UO_{2}^{2+} + Cl_{2(g)}$$
(2)

Upon addition of  $Li_2O$  to these solutions, both  $La_2O_3$  and  $UO_3$  precipitate. Interestingly, the precipitate obtained from solutions that have originally a U/La ratio of 1 were found to have a U/La ratio of 4. The solid phase is thus enriched in uranium in comparison to the solution. This can be explained by the higher solubility of  $UO_3$  than  $La_2O_3$  in the ionic liquid.

# 2.3. Lanthanide Complexes as Major Ionic Liquid Components

In most of the ionic liquid systems described in this review, lanthanide and actinide salts are dissolved in an ionic liquid. However, there are also ionic liquids that contain f-elements as a main component. Examples are the inorganic ionic liquids that are based on lanthanide-containing polyoxometalate anions with the Keggin structure,  $Na_{13}[Ln(TiW_{11}O_{39})_2] \cdot xH_2O$ . (x varies between 27 and 44).<sup>91</sup> Water is a necessary component in these ionic liquids; upon loss of the constituent water molecules, the ionic liquids are transformed into "mudlike" solids. The ionic liquids are immiscible with all common organic solvents and water at room temperature. However, at higher temperatures, they are miscible with water. Nockemann et al. reported on roomtemperature ionic liquids based on anionic rare-earth thiocyanate complexes.<sup>92</sup> Different stoichiometries have been observed, and the complexes can be represented by the general formula  $[C_4 mim]_{x-3}[Ln(NCS)_x(H_2O)_y]$  (x = 6-8; y = 0-2; x + y < 10; Ln = Y, La-Yb) (Figure 5). These



**Figure 5.** Structure of  $[C_4 mim]_{x-3}[Ln(NCS)_x(H_2O)_y]$  (x = 6-8; y = 0-2; x + y < 10; Ln = Y, La-Yb).

ionic liquids are miscible with hydrophobic ionic liquids like  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ . However, the rare-earth-containing ionic liquids are completely hydrolyzed in aqueous solutions.

### 2.4. Bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide Complexes

Given the omnipresence of the bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ion,  $[Tf_2N]^-$ , as anion in different classes of ionic liquids,<sup>11–13,14</sup> it is of importance to get insight in the coordination behavior of this anion. Because the  $[Tf_2N]^-$  ion is a weakly coordinating anion, it can be expected that this ion will not coordinate to lanthanide ions in wet ionic liquids and that in this case the first coordination sphere contains only water molecules. However, in dry ionic liquids or in ionic liquids with a low water content, the situation is different, and the [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> ion can no longer be considered as a noncoordinating anion. The interaction of [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> with lanthanide ions can be studied by different spectroscopic methods such as absorption spectroscopy, luminescence spectroscopy, and EXAFS. Direct information on the coordination modes can be obtained from crystal structures of the metal complexes. Although the compounds that crystallize from a solution do not necessarily have the same stoichiometry as the complexes dissolved in the solution, single-crystal X-ray data can give valuable information. A few examples of crystal structures of lanthanide(III) bis-(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide complexes have been published.  $[La(Tf_2N)_3(H_2O)_3]$  crystallizes in the cubic space group  $P2_13$  (Figure 6). The  $[Tf_2N]^-$  ligand acts as a bidentate



Figure 6. Molecular structure of  $[La(Tf_2N)_3(H_2O)_3]$ . The atomic coordinates were taken from ref 93.

ligand, and coordination occurs through an oxygen atom of each sulfonyl group.93 Because of the additional coordination of three water molecules, the coordination number of the lanthanum(III) ion is nine. The coordination polyhedron can be described as a tricapped trigonal prism, and the three water molecules form the bottom triangular face of the trigonal prism. The three  $[Tf_2N]^-$  ligands bind to the central metal ion in a propeller-like arrangement, which makes the complexes chiral. Of the eight coordinating units in the unit cell, four have the  $\Lambda$  absolute configuration and four have the  $\Delta$  absolute configuration. The fact that  $[Tf_2N]^-$  is a weakly coordinating anion towards trivalent lanthanide ions is nicely illustrated in recent work by Babai and Mudring.94 By reaction of anhydrous praseodymium(III) iodide with the ionic liquid [bmpyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] (where bmpyr is 1-butyl-1methylpyrrolidinium), crystals of [bmpyr]<sub>4</sub>[PrI<sub>6</sub>][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] were obtained. Above each face of the  $[PrI_6]^{3-}$  octahedra, one 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium cation is tangentially located.  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anions fill the remaining space. To force the bis-(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide anion to coordinate to the lanthanide ion, the authors reacted  $Pr(Tf_2N)_3$  with the ionic liquid [bmpyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. In this case, a crystalline compound with the composition [bmpyr]<sub>2</sub>[Pr(Tf<sub>2</sub>N)<sub>5</sub>] was obtained. In the crystal structure, sheets formed by [Pr(Tf<sub>2</sub>N)<sub>5</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>, which are separated by layers of [bmpyr]<sup>+</sup> cations. The crystal structures of [bmpyr]<sub>4</sub>[LaI<sub>6</sub>][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] and [bmpyr]<sub>4</sub>[ErI<sub>6</sub>][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] have been reported later on.<sup>95</sup> With divalent ytterbium, [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> forms the complex [mppyr]<sub>2</sub>[Yb(Tf<sub>2</sub>N)<sub>4</sub>], where mppyr is 1-methyl-1-propylpyrrolidinium (Figure 7).<sup>96</sup> Here,



Figure 7. Molecular structure of  $[mppyr]_2[Yb(Tf_2N)_4]$ . The atomic coordinates were taken from ref 96.

the coordinating unit is an anionic tetrakis complex, which shows similarities with the well-known tetrakis  $\beta$ -diketonate complexes.<sup>97</sup> A subsequent study described the crystal structures of  $[bmpyr]_2[Ln(Tf_2N)_5]$  (Ln = Nd, Tb) and  $[bmpyr][Ln(Tf_2N)_4]$  (Ln = Tm, Lu).<sup>98</sup> In these compounds, only coordination via the oxygen atoms of the  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anion is observed and discrete anionic complexes of the types  $[Ln(Tf_2N)_5]^{2-}$  and  $[Ln(Tf_2N)_4]^{-}$  are built. In the  $[Ln(Tf_2N)_5]^{2-}$ unit formed by the larger lanthanide(III) ions, four [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> anions are bidentate, and one  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anion is monodentate, so the coordination number of the lanthanide ion is nine. The coordination polyhedron can be described as a monocapped square antiprism. In the  $[Ln(Tf_2N)_4]^-$  unit formed by the smaller lanthanide ions, four bidentate  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anions result in coordination number eight. The coordination polyhedron is in this case a dodecahedron. This study also points to the conformational flexibility of [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> anions, with the presence of both cisoid and transoid conformations of the anions. This can be an explanation for why it is so difficult to obtain bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide complex crystals of good quality. The influence of the alkyl chain length of the pyrrolidinium ionic liquids on the type of complexes that can be crystallized from this type of ionic liquid is shown by the fact that after dissolution of NdI<sub>3</sub> in [bmpyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] or in [mppyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N], the complex [bmpyr]<sub>4</sub>-[NdI<sub>6</sub>][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] precipitated from [bmpyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] and the complex [mppyr]<sub>3</sub>[NdI<sub>6</sub>] from [mmpyr][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>99</sup>

The divalent lanthanide iodides SmI<sub>2</sub> and NdI<sub>2</sub> were found to react with the ionic liquid triethylsulfonium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, [SEt<sub>3</sub>][Tf<sub>2</sub>N], and single crystals of [SEt<sub>3</sub>]<sub>3</sub>[NdI<sub>6</sub>] and [SEt<sub>3</sub>]<sub>3</sub>[SmI<sub>6</sub>] could be obtained.<sup>100</sup> The octahedral building units [LnI<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup> are surrounded by eight triethylsulfonium cation in a distorted cubic arrangement. The octanuclear europium(III) cluster [bmpyr]<sub>6</sub>[Eu<sub>8</sub>( $\mu$ <sub>4</sub>-O)-( $\mu$ <sub>3</sub>-OH)12( $\mu$ <sub>2</sub>-OTf)<sub>14</sub>( $\mu$ <sub>1</sub>-OTf)][HOTf]<sub>1.5</sub> has been synthesized by reaction of acidic europium(III) triflate with the ionic liquid [bmpyr][OTf] in a sealed silica tube at 120 °C.<sup>101</sup>

## 3. Spectroscopic Properties

## 3.1. Trivalent Lanthanide lons

The trivalent lanthanide ions have special spectroscopic properties because the 4f valence shell is shielded from the environment around the lanthanide ion by higher lying closed shells.<sup>102,103</sup> Therefore the weak intraconfigurational f-f transitions show sharp line transitions. A lanthanide spectrum resembles more an atomic spectrum than a transition metal spectrum. In addition, some lanthanide ions exhibit a strong photoluminescence, so the lanthanides are of interest for luminescence applications. The luminescence can be in the visible (e.g.,  $Eu^{3+}$ ,  $Tb^{3+}$ ) or in the near-infrared part of the spectrum (e.g., Nd<sup>3+</sup>, Er<sup>3+</sup>, Yb<sup>3+</sup>). The spectroscopic properties of the lanthanide and actinide ions are somewhat similar, although the absorption bands of actinide ions are in general more intense than those of the lanthanide ions. This can be explained by the less effective shielding of the 5f valence shell from its environment (in contrast to the 4f shell of the lanthanide ions).

The luminescence of the Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion can be used to probe the local environment of lanthanide ions in ionic liquids. Changes in the crystal-field fine structure observed in highresolution emission spectra reflect small changes in the first coordination sphere of the Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion. For instance, the interaction between Eu<sup>3+</sup> and halides (chloride/fluoride) in anhydrous 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium ionic liquids with different anions ([BF<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, [OTf]<sup>-</sup>, [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup>) has been investigated.<sup>67</sup> The effects of water and added chloride ions on the spectra of  $Eu^{3+}$  in the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ were studied.<sup>65</sup> Besides the crystal-field fine structure of the spectra, also the luminescence decay time can provide valuable information. For instance, the decay time of the excited state  ${}^{5}D_{0}$  of the Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion can be used to determine the number of water molecules that is directly coordinated to the Eu<sup>3+</sup> ion.<sup>104</sup> Monitoring the luminescence intensity and the luminescence decay time as a function of the temperature allowed detection of phase transitions in europium(III)-containing ionic liquid crystals. Bünzli and coworkers investigated the spectroscopic properties of different europium(III) salts dissolved in 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride and nitrate ionic liquid crystals.<sup>105</sup> The neat ionic liquid crystals showed blue fluorescence (ligand emission) upon irradiation by ultraviolet radiation. Addition of a europium(III) salt partially quenched this blue fluorescence, but at the same time, red europium(III)-centered luminescence was observed. This is due to energy transfer of the excitation energy from the organic chromophores to the europium(III) ion. By a proper choice of the excitation wavelength and counterion, the emission color could be tuned from blue to red. Ionic liquids have a beneficial effect on the photostability of lanthanide  $\beta$ -diketonate complexes.<sup>106</sup> The  $\beta$ -diketonate complexes are being intensively studied as molecular luminescent materials.97 Although the lanthanide  $\beta$ -diketonates exhibit intense photoluminescence intensities, they suffer from a low photochemical stability. Irradiation of solutions of lanthanide  $\beta$ -diketonate by ultraviolet radiation often leads to fast decomposition of the complexes and of the ligands. It was shown that a europium-(III) tetrakis(2-thenoyltrifluoroacetonate) complex dissolved in 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide,  $[C_6 mim][Tf_2N]$ , has a much higher photostability than when dissolved in acetonitrile.<sup>106</sup> The authors also showed the crystal structure of the europium tetrakis  $\beta$ -diketonate complex with  $[C_6 mim]^+$  counterions (Figure 8).



**Figure 8.** Molecular structure of  $[C_6 mim][Eu(tta)_4]$ , where  $C_6 mim$  is 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium and tta is 2-thenoyltrifluoroacetonate. The atomic coordinates were taken from ref 106.

Ionic liquids are good solvents to study the infrared luminescence of lanthanide complexes in solution, as was illustrated by the infrared luminescence of Nd<sup>3+</sup> ions in different imidazolium ionic liquids.<sup>107</sup> This study shows that the band shape and the intensity of the hypersensitive  ${}^{4}G_{5/2}$   $\leftarrow {}^{4}I_{9/2}$  transition (observable in the absorption spectrum at ca. 586 nm) depends very much on the type of anion in the ionic liquid (Figure 9). The dramatic effect of the water



**Figure 9.** Absorption spectra of the hypersensitive transition  ${}^{4}G_{5/2} \leftarrow {}^{4}I_{9/2}$  at 586 nm of  $[Nd(nta)_{4}]^{-}$  in  $[C_{6}mim]Br$  (thin line) and of NdBr<sub>3</sub> in  $[C_{6}mim]Br$  (thick line) Here, nta is naphthoyltrifluoro-acetonate and  $C_{6}mim$  is 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium.

content of the ionic liquid on the infrared emission was evident for neodymium(III) iodide and erbium(III) iodide dissolved in carefully dried 1-dodecyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide.<sup>108</sup> Exposure of the samples to atmospheric moisture lead to a rapid decrease of the luminescence intensity to nearly zero intensity. Bünzli and co-workers studied the visible and near-infrared luminescence of lanthanide  $\beta$ -diketonate complexes [Ln(tta)<sub>3</sub>(phen)] (Ln

= Nd, Eu, Er, Yb; tta = 2-thenovltrifluoroacetonate; phen = 1.10-phenanthroline) dissolved in the ionic liquid crystal 1-dodecyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride.<sup>109</sup> An interesting observation is that the quantum efficiency of the [Yb(tta)<sub>3</sub>-(phen)] complex dissolved in the ionic liquid is higher than that for the complex in the solid state. This indicates that nonradiative relaxation processes are less important in the ionic liquid solution than in the solid state. On the other hand, the quantum efficiency of [Yb(tta)<sub>3</sub>(phen)] dissolved in toluene is smaller than that in the solid state. For [Nd(tta)<sub>3</sub>-(phen)], [Er(tta)<sub>3</sub>(phen)], and [Yb(tta)<sub>3</sub>(phen)] the luminescence decay times are slightly longer in the ionic liquid than in the solid state. Once again, this illustrates the reduction of the nonradiative relaxation processes in the ionic liquid compared to these processes in the solid state. A spectroscopic study of PrI<sub>3</sub> and Pr(Tf<sub>2</sub>N)<sub>3</sub> in the ionic liquid [bmpyr]- $[Tf_2N]$  (where bmpyr is 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium) revealed that after excitation in the  ${}^{3}P_{2}$  level emission takes place not only from the  ${}^{1}D_{2}$  level but also from the  ${}^{3}P_{0}$  and  ${}^{3}P_{1}$  levels.<sup>94</sup> This is one of the few cases where luminescence starting from the  ${}^{3}P_{1}$  level was observed in the liquid state. This unusual behavior can be attributed to the reduced radiationless deactivation of the excited states of the Pr<sup>3+</sup> ion in the ionic liquid. Also dysprosium(III) iodide and terbium(III) iodide show a strong photoluminescence when dissolved in an imidazolium ionic liquid.<sup>110</sup>

## 3.2. Divalent Lanthanide lons

The spectroscopic behavior of divalent europium differs very much from that of trivalent europium. Whereas the absorption and luminescence spectra of the Eu<sup>3+</sup> exhibit the typical line transitions due to the forbidden intraconfigurational f-f transitions, the spectra of Eu<sup>2+</sup> contain intense broad bands due to the allowed interconfigurational f-d transitions. Billard and co-workers studied the absorption and luminescence spectra of EuI<sub>2</sub> dissolved in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>].<sup>88</sup>

## 3.3. Uranium

UV-vis spectroscopy is a useful technique for the speciation of uranium complexes, because each oxidation state of uranium gives a typical spectrum. Although the uranyl ion (dioxouranium(VI) ion) has no f-electrons, electronic transitions are possible between the molecular orbitals formed by interaction between ligand and uranyl atomic orbitals. The absorption and luminescence spectra of uranyl compounds exhibit a characteristic vibrational fine structure.<sup>111</sup> Absorption spectra of uranium(VI) (uranyl), uranium(V), uranium(IV), and uranium(III) in ionic liquids have been reported.<sup>112</sup> Most of those studied have been performed in chloroaluminate ionic liquids. The vibrational fine structure in the absorption and luminescence spectra of the dioxouranium (uranyl) ion can be used to probe the local environment of this ion. Anderson and co-workers used spectroscopic methods to monitor the decomposition of UO2Cl2 in an acidic AlCl3-[C2mim]Cl melt.113 Also in studies on the mechanism of solvent extraction in ionic liquids, the absorption spectra of the uranyl ions were useful. The spectra of the octahedral hexachlorouranate(IV) complex [UCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> in the ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] and [(CH<sub>3</sub>)(C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>9</sub>)<sub>3</sub>N][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] have been presented.<sup>114</sup> The intensities of the complex in ionic liquids were higher than those in acetonitrile, which was attributed to the stronger solvation in ionic liquids. The  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  is stable against hydrolysis in the ionic liquids.

Addition of  $\geq 4$  equiv of chloride ions to a solution of  $[UO_2][OTf]_2$  in the ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$  and  $[(CH_3)(C_4H_9)_3N][Tf_2N]$  leads to the formation of the tetrachlorouranyl complex  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$ .<sup>115</sup> This complex has a very typical absorption spectrum.<sup>116,117</sup> The photoluminescence of uranyl complexes is barely detectable in imidazolium ionic liquids due to the background luminescence of the imidazolium cation. The  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$  complex shows an intense luminescence in the quaternary ammonium ionic liquid.

## 3.4. Other Actinides

Schoebrechts and Gilbert reported the absorption spectra of neptunium(III) and neptunium(IV) in different chloroaluminate ionic liquids.<sup>118</sup> This work shows that [NpCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup> and [NpCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> occur in basic chloroaluminate melts, whereas  $[NpCl_x]^{(4-x)+}$  (with  $1 \le x \le 3$ ) species are present in acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids. Nikitenko and Moisy studied the absorption and diffuse reflectance spectra of [NpCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> and [PuCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> complexes in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>76</sup> These studies revealed that these hexachloro complexes are stable against hydrolysis but not stable against addition of chloride ions. Although time-resolved laser fluorescence spectroscopy measurements indicate that the coordination sphere of curium(III) is very similar to that of europium-(III) in the ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ , the two ions show a different behavior with respect to luminescence quenching by copper(II) ions.<sup>77</sup> Copper(II) does not quench the luminescence of curium(III) in [C4mim][Tf2N] whereas the luminescence decay time of europium(III) decreases with increasing copper(II) concentration.

## 4. Redox Behavior and Electrodeposition of Metals

## 4.1. Redox Behavior of Lanthanides

Lanthanide chemistry is dominated by the trivalent oxidation state in aqueous solution (with the exception of  $Eu^{2+}$ and Ce<sup>4+</sup>), but other lanthanide ions in other oxidation states than +3 can occur in the solid state and in nonaqueous solutions.<sup>56,119,120</sup> It is therefore not a surprise that lanthanide ions in different oxidation states can occur in ionic liquids. Several ionic liquids have a wide electrochemical window, which means that they are stable over a large potential range.<sup>6</sup> The electrochemical properties of lanthanide ions in chloroaluminate ionic liquids have been reviewed by O'Donell.112 Acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids are good solvents for the stabilization of divalent lanthanide ions, partially due to the weakly solvating power of the ionic liquid solvent. The divalent lanthanide ions Sm<sup>2+</sup>, Eu<sup>2+</sup>, Tm<sup>2+</sup>, and Yb<sup>2+</sup> were prepared from the trivalent lanthanide ion by electrolytic reduction of trivalent lanthanide salts dissolved in AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[Bupy]Cl ionic liquids.<sup>121,122</sup> However, the divalent ions are much less stable in basic chloroaluminate ionic liquids. It was suggested by O'Donnell that divalent lanthanide ions could undergo disproportionation in chloroaluminate ionic liquids if the acidity of the ionic liquid is reduced to neutrality and the ionic liquids are progressively more basic.<sup>112</sup> The disproportionation involves decomposition of Ln<sup>2+</sup> species into Ln<sup>3+</sup> and Ln<sup>0</sup> species. The presence of dispersed lanthanide metal particles renders the basic ionic liquids containing divalent lanthanides to strongly reducing mixtures. The largest electrochemical window is observed for chloroaluminate ionic liquids with a neutral or close to neutral

composition ("neutral basic" and "neutral acidic" melts). This extended electrochemical window allows the investigation of redox systems that are inaccessible in acidic and basic chloroaluminate melts. The redox behavior of europium<sup>123</sup> and ytterbium<sup>124</sup> has been investigated by Gua and Sun in AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids. Billard and co-workers report that the divalent europium ion is unusually stable in the 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate ionic liquid.<sup>88</sup> Trials to oxidize  $Eu^{2+}$  in  $Eu^{3+}$  in  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  by  $K_2Cr_2O_7$ , Ce(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, or O<sub>2</sub> were unsuccessful. A solution of  $Eu^{2+}$  in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>], left in a container without special care, is stable for months. Europium(III) is easier to reduce to europium(II) in imidazolium and ammonium ionic liquids than in aqueous solutions.<sup>125</sup> Mudring et al. reported that the divalent ytterbium ion is a stable species in a pyrrolidinium ionic liquid.<sup>96</sup> The redox behavior of the lanthanide complexes  $[Ln(Tf_2N)_3(H_2O)_3]$  (where Ln = La, Sm, Eu) in the ionic liquid  $[(n-C_4H_9)(CH_3)_3N][Tf_2N]$  has been investigated by cyclic voltammetry.93 Whereas only one cathodic reduction peak could be observed for the lanthanum system, two reduction peaks could be observed for the samarium and europium systems. This is consistent with the occurrence of the  $La^{3+}/La^{0}$  redox couple for lanthanum, with the redox couples  $Sm^{3+}/Sm^{2+}$  and  $Sm^{2+}/Sm^{0}$  for samarium, and with the redox couples  $Eu^{3+}/Eu^{2+}$  and  $Eu^{2+}/Eu^{0}$  for europium. However, all these redox reactions are irreversible, and as a consequence, no anodic oxidation peak (stripping peak) could be observed. Yamagata and co-workers investigated the electrochemical behavior of samarium, europium, and ytterbium in the ionic liquids [C<sub>2</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>126</sup> Tetravalent cerium is not stable in LiCl-KCl eutectic melts, because cerium(IV) is reduced by chloride ions.<sup>127</sup> Cerium-(IV) has a higher kinetic stability in AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids, but it is eventually reduced to cerium(III).<sup>128</sup> The half-life of cerium(IV) in this ionic liquid is 8 days at room temperature. Both cerium(III) and cerium(IV) form hexachloro complexes, [CeCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> and [CeCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup>. This study also shows that cerium(IV) can be generated by electrolysis in basic chloroaluminate ionic liquids.

#### 4.2. Redox Behavior of Uranium

The redox behavior of uranium species has been studied in detail in chloroaluminate ionic liquids.<sup>112</sup> Major differences were found between the behavior in acidic and in basic melts. Surprisingly, UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> is not stable in an acidic chloroaluminate melt.<sup>113</sup> The decomposition of uranyl is characterized by a relatively rapid disappearance of  $[UO_2]^{2+}$  to form an intermediate that slowly reacts further to the uranium(V) species  $[UCl_6]^-$  as the final product. The solvent acts as the reducing agent, in which the species  $[AlCl_4]^-$  and  $[Al_2Cl_7]^$ are oxidized to form chlorine gas. A detailed study of the reaction mechanism has been performed in acidic  $AlCl_3 [C_2mim]Cl$  room-temperature ionic liquids. The first steps are probably two rapid acid—base equilibria:

$$\mathrm{UO_2}^{2+} + \mathrm{Al_2Cl_7}^{-} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{UO}^{4+} + \mathrm{AlCl_4}^{-} + \mathrm{AlOCl_3}^{2-} (3)$$

and

$$\mathrm{UO}^{4+} + \mathrm{Al}_{2}\mathrm{Cl}_{7}^{-} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{U}^{6+} + \mathrm{Al}\mathrm{Cl}_{4}^{-} + \mathrm{Al}\mathrm{OCl}_{3}^{2-} \quad (4)$$

By these reactions two oxide ions are transferred from uranyl to the solvent so that the  $U^{6+}$  ion is formed in solution.  $U^{6+}$  and possibly also  $UO^{4+}$  are then slowly reduced to  $U^{5+}$ . The

uranyl ion can be reduced electrolytically in the acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquid by bulk coulometry to U<sup>4+</sup>. Due to the reducing capability of the solvent, this electrolytic reaction is on average only a 1.7-electron process and not a two-electron process. In acidic AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[BuPy]Cl, uranium-(IV) is stable over the entire acidic composition range.<sup>129</sup>  $[UCl_3]^+$  is the dominant species in a 2:1 AlCl\_3-[BuPy]Cl melt, but with decreasing acidity of the melt (i.e., increase of  $Cl^{-}$  content),  $[UCl_2]^{2+}$  and  $[UCl_3]^{+}$  become the dominant species. When the acidity of the melt is decreased further, UCl<sub>4</sub> will start to precipitate. Uranium(IV) can be reduced electrolytically in this ionic liquid to uranium(III), and it can be oxidized electrolytically to uranium(V) and uranium(VI). Uranium(III) occurs in the melt as  $U^{3+}$  and not as a chloro complex like uranium(IV) but as solvated cations.<sup>130</sup> Solvation probably occurs by [UCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, except in the more acidic ionic liquids, where [Al<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>7</sub>]<sup>-</sup> is most probably the counterion. On the other hand, uranium(V) occurs as the  $[UCl_6]^$ complex, which has approximately an octahedral symmetry.<sup>131</sup> The oxidation of uranium(V) to uranium(VI) takes place at potentials more positive than the thermodynamic potential limit of the solvent (chlorine gas formation). Because of the reaction of uranium(VI) with the solvent, pure solutions of uranium(VI) cannot be prepared by bulk coulometry. Dissolution of either  $[C_2 mim]_2[UBr_6]$  or  $[C_2 mim]_2[UO_2Br_4]$  in an acidic AlBr\_3- $[C_2 mim]Br$  ionic liquid results in the formation of the same electroactive species, which is very likely the solvated uranium(IV) ion,  $[U(AlBr_4)_3]^+$ .<sup>71,72</sup> The  $[AlBr_4]^-$  species present in the acidic ionic liquid thus replaces the ligands that were originally bonded to the uranium center. The electroactive  $[U(AlBr_4)_3]^+$ complex can be reduced to  $[U(AlBr_4)_3]$  in a quasi-reversible reaction:

$$[\mathrm{U}(\mathrm{AlBr}_{4})_{3}]^{+} + \mathrm{e}^{-} \rightleftharpoons [\mathrm{U}(\mathrm{AlBr}_{4})_{3}] \tag{5}$$

In contrast to its behavior in acidic chloroaluminate ionic liquids, the uranyl ion is stable in basic ionic liquids.<sup>113</sup> The uranium(VI) ion can be reduced electrolytically to uranium-(IV) with the formation of the  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  species. Uranium-(III) is not a stable species in AlCl<sub>3</sub>–[BuPy]Cl ionic liquids; it is oxidized by the 1-butylpyridinium cation. It is stated that  $U^{3+}$  undergoes disproportionation into  $U^{4+}$  and  $U^{0,112}$ This disproportionation reaction leads to the formation of finely dispersed uranium metal, which can reduce the 1-butylpyridinium cation rather easily. The electrolytic reduction of U<sup>4+</sup> to U<sup>3+</sup> is not observed in AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[BuPy]Cl ionic liquids. Because the 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium cation is more difficult to reduce than the 1-butylpyridinium cation, U<sup>4+</sup> reduction can be studied in basic AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquids.<sup>113</sup> Seddon, Hussey, and co-workers reported the cyclic voltammograms of the uranium salts [C<sub>2</sub>mim]<sub>2</sub>[UCl<sub>6</sub>] and [C<sub>2</sub>mim]<sub>2</sub>[UO<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>] in a basic AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid.<sup>70</sup> A two-electron reduction process of  $[UO_2Cl_4]^{2-}$  involves a fast transfer of the oxygen ligands to the ionic liquid, followed by the formation of the hexachlorouranate(IV) ion,  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$ . In a second step, the reversible reduction of  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  to  $[UCl_6]^{3-}$  takes place:

$$[UO_{2}Cl_{4}]^{2^{-}} + 2[AlCl_{4}]^{-} + 2e^{-} \rightleftharpoons^{2^{-}}$$
  
2"{AlOCl\_{2}}^{-"} + [UCl\_{6}]^{2^{-}} + 2Cl^{-} (6)

In the case of the  $[C_2mim]_2[UCl_6]$  salt, only the second step, the one-electron reversible redox process, occurs. The redox behavior of  $[C_2mim]_2[UBr_6]$  and  $[C_2mim]_2[UO_2Br_4]$  in basic AlBr<sub>3</sub>- $[C_2mim]Br$  bromoaluminate ionic liquids is very similar to the redox behavior of the corresponding chloroaluminate systems.<sup>71,72</sup> The uranium(V) hexachloro complex  $[UCl_6]^-$  undergoes spontaneous reduction in a basic AlCl<sub>3</sub>- $[C_2mim]Cl$  ionic liquid to the uranium(IV) hexachloro complex  $[UCl_6]^{2-.131}$  This reduction is not due to disproportionation of uranium(V) but rather to the oxidation of ionic liquid components by uranium(V).

The electrochemistry of the hexachloro uranate(IV) complex  $[UCl_6]^{2-}$  in the ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$  and  $[(CH_3)(C_4H_9)_3N][Tf_2N]$  has been discussed by Nikitenko and co-workers.<sup>114</sup> The study shows that the uranium redox potential is sensitive to the cation of the ionic liquid. The highest sensitivity was found for the uranium(IV)/uranium-(III) redox couple. The reduction of uranium(III) to metallic uranium could be observed, but this process is irreversible. Martinot et al. studied the electrochemical reduction of uranium(VI) and uranium(IV) in the protic ionic liquid ethylammonium nitrate at 25 °C.<sup>132</sup> Uranium(VI) in the form of uranyl is stable in this ionic liquid, but it can be electrolytically reduced to the uranium(V) species  $UO_2^+$ . This reduction is an irreversible process, and  $UO_2^+$  is unstable in the ionic liquid. Tetravalent uranium is unstable in ethylammonium nitrate, but when one works fast, it can be electrolytically reduced in a one-electron step to an unstable uranium(III) species.

## 4.3. Redox Behavior of the Other Actinides

Bhatt et al. demonstrated by cyclic voltammetry that thorium(IV) can be reduced in a single reduction step to the zero-valent state in the ionic liquid  $[(n-C_4H_9)(CH_3)_3N]$ -[Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>133</sup> They also noticed that it is easier to reduce thorium(IV) in this ionic liquid than in other solvents like water, nonaqueous solvents, or high-temperature molten salts. These results can be explained by the weak coordinating ability of the  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anion so that reduction is facilitated. The  $E^{\circ}$  value of the Th<sup>4+</sup>/Th<sup>0</sup> redox couple in the ionic liquid is -1.80 V (versus SHE), whereas this value is -1.899 V in aqueous solutions at 25 °C and -2.359 V in the LiCl-KCl eutectic at 450 °C. The electrochemical studies suffered from the deposition of a nonconductive oxide layer on the electrode, so that no stripping or anodic peak was observed in the voltammogram. Possibly, thorium(IV) oxide was formed by reaction of thorium metal with water present in the ionic liquid. Nikitenko and Moisy investigated the electrochemical behavior of neptunium and plutonium complexes in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N].<sup>76</sup> The [NpCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> and [PuCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> complexes are electrochemically inert in this ionic liquid. Irreversible redox processes were observed by cyclic voltammetry after addition of chloride ions in the form of [C<sub>4</sub>mim]Cl. By steady-state linear sweep voltammetry, it was demonstrated that in these chloride-containing ionic liquids, neptunium(IV) can be reduced to neptunium(III), and that plutonium(IV) can be reduced to plutonium(III). The electrochemical behavior of neptunium(III) and neptunium-(IV) in chloroaluminate ionic liquids is very similar to that of, respectively, uranium(III) and uranium(IV).<sup>118</sup>

## 4.4. Electrodeposition

The lanthanides and actinides are very electropositive elements. The standard reduction potentials of the lanthanides and actinides are more negative than those of aluminum and are comparable to that of magnesium. The metallic f-elements react with water to give hydrogen and metal hydroxides or oxides.<sup>56</sup> Therefore, the pure metals cannot be deposited electrochemically from an aqueous solution. Electrodeposition or electrorefining of lanthanides and actinides requires the use of anhydrous molten salt baths. Ionic liquids could be an alternative to the high-temperature molten salts for electroprocessing of metallic f-elements. Not only does the use of ionic liquids allow working at lower temperatures, but ionic liquids are in addition less corrosive than high-temperature molten salts.

The strongly electropositive character of the lanthanides and actinides makes the cathodic stability of many types of ionic liquids too low to allow electrodeposition of the f-elements. Attempts to reduce lanthanide or actinide ions in imidazolium ionic liquids result in decomposition of the ionic liquid by reduction of the imidazolium ring.<sup>134</sup> Quaternary ammonium salts have a better cathodic stability than imidazolium ionic liquids, but many quaternary ammonium salts suffer from the disadvantage that their viscosity is often too high to be useful for electrochemical processes. The viscosity can be reduced by a proper choice for the anion, for instance, [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup>, and by making the alkyl chain not too long (six or less carbon atoms).93,134 Very large electrochemical windows were reported for the ionic liquids [(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>N]- $[Tf_2N]$ ,  $[(CH_3)_4P][Tf_2N]$ , and  $[(CH_3)_4As][Tf_2N]$ .<sup>135</sup> The quaternary arsonium salt showed the highest stability (from -3.4to 2.6 V versus ferrocenium/ferrocene), followed by the phosphonium salt. It was shown by cyclic voltammetry that europium metal can be electrodeposited from these ionic liquids.

There are only a few studies available on the electrodeposition of bulk samples of lanthanide metals from ionic liquids. Tsuda and co-workers were not able to obtain lanthanum metal by electrodeposition from a LaCl<sub>3</sub>-saturated AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl melt but obtained rather aluminum metal. It was suggested that electrodeposits of aluminum metal were obtained from a LaCl<sub>3</sub> saturated AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl melt at -1.95 V after addition of an excess of LiCl and 50 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> of thionyl chloride. However, the deposition could only be observed by cyclic voltammetry; no bulk samples could be obtained.<sup>84</sup> Aluminum-lanthanum alloys electrodeposited from an AlCl<sub>3</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid saturated with LaCl<sub>3</sub> contained no more than 0.12 atom % La (and in most samples even considerably less).<sup>136</sup> However, it was observed that these aluminum deposits had a smoother surface than those obtained in absence of LaCl<sub>3</sub>. Hsu and Yang obtained Co-Zn-Dy alloys with a quite high dysprosium content (up to 24.5 wt %) by electrodeposition on nickel or copper electrodes from a ZnCl<sub>2</sub>-[C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid with dissolved CoCl<sub>2</sub> and DyCl<sub>3</sub>.<sup>137</sup> The authors state that no zerovalent dysprosium metal is present, but possibly dysprosium-(II) is present (although it is more likely that dysprosium(III) salts is incorporated in the alloys). Lotermeyer and coworkers tried out the [C<sub>2</sub>mim][OTf] ionic liquid as solvent for electroplating of dysprosium, but no dysprosium deposits could be obtained.<sup>138</sup> The authors could prepare thick, adhesive, and uniform dysprosium coatings from an electroplating bath consisting of dysprosium(III) triflate and dimethylpyrrolidinium triflate dissolved in DMF.

Studies on the purification of uranium and plutonium metal by the electrorefining process in ionic liquids have been reported.<sup>139,140</sup> This work is of importance for the processing of spent nuclear fuel elements (see section 6). In the electrorefining process, the spent fuel elements act as the anode and pure metal acts as the cathode in a molten salt or ionic liquid. By application of an electric field between the anode and cathode, the anode is partially dissolved and pure metal is deposited on the cathode. Because of the instability of the imidazolium cation against reduction, the electrodeposition of uranium and plutonium metal in imidazolium ionic liquids was not successful. Contact of plutonium metal with the [C<sub>2</sub>mim]Cl ionic liquid resulted in a spontaneous reaction, being the oxidation of the  $[C_2 mim]^+$  cation by plutonium. A problem experienced during the electrorefining of uranium was that the uranium(III) species formed upon the dissolution of uranium at the anode are not stable in  $[C_2mim]Cl$ . Controlled potential electrolysis of uranium(VI) in [C<sub>4</sub>mim]-Cl did not lead to the formation of uranium metal but rather to a deposit of UO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>141</sup>

## 5. Solvent Extraction

Liquid—liquid solvent extraction is a very important process for the separation and purification of lanthanide ions.<sup>142,143</sup> The process is also of prime importance for the separation of fission products from reusable fissile material in spent nuclear fuel elements (see section 6). The basic principle behind solvent extraction is the difference in distribution of the species of interest over two immiscible phases, being often an aqueous phase and an organic phase; some species dissolve preferentially in the organic phase, while others dissolve preferentially in the aqueous phase.

Hydrophobic ionic liquids have been considered as an alternative for the organic phase in liquid–liquid solvent extraction systems.<sup>38–41</sup> Major advantages of the use of ionic liquids are their extremely low vapor pressure, so that solvent losses by evaporation during the extraction process can be greatly reduced. Most ionic liquids are also nonflammable. Because many ionic liquids contain weakly coordinating anions, it will in general not be possible to extract metal ions from an aqueous phase to the ionic liquid phase in the absence of extractants. Typical extractants for lanthanide ions are  $\beta$ -diketones, dialkylphosphoric acids and dialkylphosphinic acids, and octyl(phenyl)-*N*,*N*-diisobutylcarbamoylmethyl phosphine oxide (CMPO) (Figure 10). CPMO is also



**Figure 10.** Structure of octyl(phenyl)-*N*,*N*-diisobutylcarbamoylmethyl phosphine oxide (CMPO).

often used for the extraction of uranyl ions and transuranium elements. CPMO is the extractant in the TRUEX process (TRUEX = transuranium extraction).<sup>144</sup> Because of the ionic nature of ionic liquids, the partitioning equilibriums in solvent extraction systems involving ionic liquids are not necessarily identical to those involving conventional organic solvents. The equilibriums often involve cation or anion exchange between the aqueous phase and the ionic liquid phase. This contamination of the aqueous phase by the components of the ionic liquid is a problem for the applicability of ionic liquids in solvent extraction systems. Moreover, the coordination environment of the metal ions in ionic liquids can differ from what is observed in other organic solvents. processes is how to strip the metals from the ionic liquids after extraction. The possibilities to use ionic liquids for solvent extraction processes of f-elements have been discussed by Visser and Rogers.<sup>145</sup>

Studies of the extraction of lanthanide ions from an aqueous phase to the ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide, [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N], by the extractant 2-thenoyltrifluoroacetone (Htta) revealed that the lanthanide ions are extracted as anionic tetrakis complexes of the type  $[Ln(tta)_4]^-$ , rather than as hydrated neutral complexes of the type  $[Ln(tta)_3(H_2O)_n]$  (n = 2 or 3).<sup>146</sup> In the anionic complexes, no water molecules are coordinated to the lanthanide ion. Extraction of the anionic lanthanide complexes to the ionic liquid phase is made possible by the exchange of the  $[Tf_2N]^-$  anions into the aqueous phase for the  $[Ln(tta)_4]^-$  complexes. It is very likely that the lanthanide complexes exist in the ionic liquid phase as weak  $[C_4 mim]^+ [Ln(tta)_4]^-$  ion pairs. The equilibrium that describes the partitioning of the lanthanide ions between the aqueous phase and the ionic liquid phase (i.e., the organic phase) can be written as

$$Ln_{aq}^{3+} + 4Htta_{org} + [C_4mim][Tf_2N]_{org} \rightleftharpoons$$
$$[C_4mim][Ln(tta)_4]_{org} + 4H_{aq}^+ + [Tf_2N]_{aq}^- (8)$$

It is evident from this equation that for each  $Ln^{3+}$  ion extracted to the ionic liquid, one [Tf<sub>2</sub>N]<sup>-</sup> ion is lost by transfer to the aqueous phase. This contamination of the aqueous phase by components of the ionic liquid is a serious problem that limits the applicability of these solvent extraction systems. Subsequent studies showed that the extraction equilibrium in eq 8 is valid for high Htta concentrations only and that at lower Htta concentration neutral  $[Ln(tta)_3(H_2O)_x]$ complexes are extracted into the ionic liquid phase.<sup>147</sup> The lanthanide complexes can be stripped from the ionic liquid by treatment of the ionic liquid with the acid H[Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. The fact that lanthanide ions are extracted into ionic liquids as anionic complexes is in contrast to what is observed for extraction into molecular solvents with low polarity (xylene, toluene, dodecane, kerosene), where the extraction process in general takes place via hydrated neutral complexes.

On the other hand, the extraction process of  $[UO_2]^{2+}$ , Am<sup>3+</sup>, Nd<sup>3+</sup>, and Eu<sup>3+</sup> from an aqueous phase to the ionic liquid 1-dodecyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide by dialkylphosphoric acid and dialkylphosphinic acid involved the same type of metal species in the ionic liquid phase as in the case of extraction to a dodecane solution.<sup>148</sup> The extraction of uranyl ions by tri-*n*-butylphosphate (TBP) from an aqueous nitric acid solution to the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] is similar to the extraction behavior with dodecane as organic phase in the nitric acid concentration range between 0.01 and 4 mol L<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>149</sup> However, extraction to the ionic liquid phase is more efficient when the nitric acid concentration is above 4 mol L<sup>-1</sup>.

Because octyl(phenyl)-*N*,*N*-diisobutylcarbamoylmethyl phosphine oxide (CMPO) is a neutral extractant, anions like  $[NO_3]^-$  are required to extract metal ions to the organic phase. For this reason, the aqueous phase needs to be very acidic. Nakashima et al. showed that CMPO dissolved in  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  can extract lanthanide nitrates from deionized water (i.e., without added anionic species).<sup>150</sup> The presence of the ionic liquid greatly improves the extractability of lanthanide ions, as well as the selectivity of CMPO. The metal ions could be recovered from the ionic liquid by

stripping with buffer solutions containing complex-forming agents (e.g., EDTA, DTPA, or citric acid). Whereas uranyl is extracted by CMPO from an aqueous nitric acid solution to dodecane as the  $[UO_2(NO_3)_2(CMPO)_2]$  complex, uranyl is extracted to 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoro-methylsulfonyl)imide,  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ , or 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide,  $[C_8mim]-[Tf_2N]$ , as the cationic species  $[UO_2(NO_3)(CPMO)]^+$ .<sup>151</sup> The exchange process results in losses of the imidazolium cation to the aqueous phases.

Dietz and co-workers are less optimistic about the usefulness of ionic liquids as replacements for conventional organic solvents in actinide and fission product separations.<sup>152</sup> Ionic liquids with relatively short alkyl chains like  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ exhibit a complex behavior of the distribution ratio of uranium on the nitric acid concentration and are therefore not suitable for application in extraction processes. This complex behavior indicates a shift in mechanism from cation exchange to neutral complex extraction with increasing acidity. For ionic liquids with longer alkyl chains like  $[C_{10}mim][Tf_2N]$ , the acid dependencies of the distribution ratio are more favorable (i.e., increasing uranium extraction with increasing acidity), but the distribution ratios are lower than those in dodecane. No improvement in the extraction selectivity was observed.

Ouadi and co-workers designed task-specific ionic liquids for the extraction of trivalent americium.<sup>153</sup> The task-specific ionic liquids were prepared by attaching the 2-hydroxybenzylamine moiety to a 1-methylimidazolium core with the counterions being either  $[PF_6]^-$  or  $[Tf_2N]^-$  (Figure 11). The



Figure 11. Task-specific ionic liquids for the extraction of americium(III);  $X = [PF_6]^-$  or  $[Tf_2N]^-$ .

task-specific ionic liquids act as extractants and were used in pure form or diluted in another ionic liquid. Extraction of americium from the aqueous to the ionic liquid phase took place under basic conditions. Americium could be stripped from the ionic liquid phase by washing with an acidic aqueous solution. Problems associated with the use of ionic liquids in actinide and fission product separation are discussion in section 6.

Solvent extraction is not the only separation method that has been tested in ionic liquids. Matsumiya and co-workers recently described electromigration experiments in the ionic liquids  $[(n-C_6H_{13})(CH_3)_3N][OTf]$  and  $[(n-C_6H_{13})(CH_3)_3N]-[Tf_2N]$ .<sup>154</sup> These authors found that the trivalent rare-earth ions are efficiently enriched at the anode under high-current density conditions. By a change of the experimental parameters, it was also possible to separate the trivalent rare-earth ions from the divalent alkaline-earth ions (e.g., Ba<sup>2+</sup>). This process can be of interest to remove salt impurities from ionic liquids, which is a difficult task to perform by other methods.

### 6. Treatment of Spent Nuclear Fuel

The processing of spent nuclear fuel elements is a very important issue in nuclear technology. Most fuel elements in commercial light water nuclear reactors consist of  $UO_2$  pellets, in which uranium is enriched so that the content of

the fissile <sup>235</sup>U isotope is increased to a few percent (as opposed to the natural abundance of 0.7%). During operation of the nuclear reactor, part of the nuclear fuel is burned, which means that <sup>235</sup>U is consumed by fission reactions. At the same time, higher actinides are formed by neutron capture by the different uranium isotopes in the fuel elements. The main purpose of reprocessing of the spent fuel elements is isolation of unburned <sup>235</sup>U and plutonium isotopes from fission products and from the higher actinides. The fission products <sup>90</sup>Sr and <sup>137</sup>Cs are major heat generators, and their removal from the spent nuclear fuel greatly simplifies the handling and treatment of the remaining nuclear waste. It is also possible to extract valuable byproducts (e.g., americium isotopes) from the highly radioactive waste by the reprocessing process. The first step in commercial processes like the plutonium-uranium separation by extraction (PUREX) process consists of oxidative dissolution of the UO<sub>2</sub> pellets in a concentrated aqueous HNO<sub>3</sub> solution.<sup>155,156</sup> After the spent fuel elements have been dissolved in the nitric acid solution, the acidic solution is contacted with a waterimmiscible organic solution, which can selectively extract the desired elements. The PUREX process uses tri-n-butyl phosphate (TBP) as a 30% solution in kerosene as the extractant in the solvent extraction step.<sup>144</sup> There are some technical and safety problems related to the PUREX process. First of all, tri-n-butyl phosphate is not very stable against radiolysis. In the presence of highly active fission products and higher actinides, it decomposes to *n*-butanol and lower phosphates (mainly dibutyl phosphate and monobutyl phosphate). The phosphate decomposition products are complex forming agents for many fission products, and they interfere with the separation process. Second, the organic solvents used in the PUREX process are volatile and flammable. Last, but not least, one has to take precautions that the concentration of the fissile products in the aqueous phase does not become too high, because otherwise the critical mass will be exceeded and the system becomes supercritical. This will result in an uncontrolled nuclear chain reaction. For instance, a criticality accident happened in the nuclear fuel factory in Tokai-Mura, Japan, in 1999.157

Preliminary investigations show that 1,3-dialkylimidazolium ionic liquids with chloride and nitrate anions are relatively radiation resistant and do not undergo significant decomposition by radiolysis upon exposure to high radiation doses. When these ionic liquids were subjected to a radiation dose of 400 kGy by  $\gamma$ -irradiation,  $\beta$ -particle irradiation, or  $\alpha$ -particle irradiation, less than 1% of the ionic liquid underwent radiolysis.<sup>139</sup> The stability of the ionic liquids against high radiation doses is comparable to that of benzene but is much higher than that of the TBP/kerosene mixtures used in the PUREX process. The relatively high radiation resistance of imidazolium ionic liquids can be attributed to the presence of the aromatic imidazolium ring. Aromatic compounds have a higher stability against irradiation than nonaromatic compounds, because the aromatic ring can absorb radiation energy and can relax nondissociatively. Moreover, mixtures of aromatic and nonaromatic compounds undergo less radiolytic decomposition than what is expected on the basis of the concentration of the nonaromatic compound, because of energy transfer to the aromatic compound. Analysis of the radiolysis products of 1,3-dialkylimidazolium chloride and nitrate ionic liquids show that the ionic liquids behave like a combination of an aromatic compound, an alkane, and a salt.<sup>158</sup>

Another advantageous property of ionic liquids that makes them useful for applications in the processing of spent nuclear fuel rods is their very low vapor pressure, so that they are nonvolatile. Moreover, many ionic liquids are nonflammable and combustion resistant. Ionic liquids are safer solvents for processing of spent nuclear fuel rods, because the probability for criticality accidents in ionic liquids is smaller than that in aqueous solutions. Part of the problems associated with the criticality of aqueous systems is due to the neutronmoderating properties of the hydrogen atoms in water. Neutrons are slowed down in the moderation process by collisions with the nuclei in the moderator until their energy is of the same order as the thermal energy ( $\sim 0.025 \text{ eV}$ ). At this thermal energy, the fission cross section of <sup>235</sup>U (and also of <sup>239</sup>Pu and <sup>241</sup>Pu) becomes so high that fission is more probable than absorption or scattering. Water is an excellent moderator of neutrons, because of its high hydrogen atom density. Ionic liquids are less efficient moderators than water, because they contain lower hydrogen to non-hydrogen ratios than water. A fast neutron retains its speed over a larger distance in an ionic liquid than in water and has therefore a large probability to escape from the system. This increases the system's critical mass. Of special interest are ionic liquids that contain chlorine and boron atoms, because <sup>35</sup>Cl, <sup>10</sup>B, and <sup>11</sup>B have a large capture cross section for thermal neutrons and are thus strong neutron absorbers. This increases the critical mass. Calculations have shown that plutonium in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate has an infinite critical mass at concentrations below 1000 g  $L^{-1}$ , whereas in aqueous solutions an infinite critical mass can be obtained only at concentrations below 8 g L<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>159</sup> Systems with infinite critical mass are absolutely criticality safe. because no criticality accident can occur when the solution volume is enlarged. The critical mass of the aqueous solution can be increased by partially replacing water by a hydrophilic ionic liquid.

Molten salt extraction has been explored for a long time in nuclear technology, so that the step to extraction processes based on room-temperature ionic liquids is small. Ionic liquids have the major advantage over high-temperature molten salts that the extraction process can take place at a much lower temperature. This is not only safer but also cheaper. Moreover, fewer problems with corrosion are expected.

The possibility to dissolve UO<sub>2</sub> oxidatively in nitrate ionic liquid/nitric acid mixtures has been reported.<sup>139,160</sup> For instance UO<sub>2</sub> could be dissolved in a mixture of 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium nitrate and concentrated nitric acid (90:10 vol % ratio) at 70 °C. However, it can be expected that under such reaction conditions also nitration of the imidazolium ring occurs. It is also often observed that upon cooling of reaction mixtures in which UO<sub>2</sub> was oxidatively dissolved, crystalline solids are precipitated. One of these compounds is a dimeric uranyl bisnitrate complex with bridging oxalate groups (Figure 12).<sup>161</sup> It was suspected that the source of the bridging oxalate moiety is the acetone that was used to rinse the glassware and that can be oxidized by nitric acid.<sup>162</sup> Another source can be impurities in the ionic liquid, like glyoxal, which is a starting material for the synthesis of the ionic liquid precursor imidazole.<sup>163</sup> Even impurities in the nitric acid were considered as the source of the oxalate ions. The insolubility of uranyl oxalate species in ionic liquids can be explored for the separation of uranium from ionic liquids by precipitation as oxalate complexes.<sup>139</sup>



Figure 12. Molecular structure of  $[BMIM]_2[{(UO_2)(NO_3)_2}_2(\mu_4 C_2O_4$ ]. The atomic coordinates were taken from ref 161.

Another topic related to the use of ionic liquids in the nuclear industry is the electrorefining process. This process has been discussed above in section 4.

### 7. Lanthanide-Mediated Organic Reactions

Ionic liquids are popular neoteric solvents for organic synthesis.<sup>4</sup> The main drive for research in the field of organic reactions in ionic liquid solvents is that ionic liquids are potentially environmentally friendly solvents: they have a very low vapor pressure, and they are not flammable. These studies illustrate that in many cases, the yields of the reactions in ionic liquids are comparable to those in classic organic solvents. In other cases, the yields are lower in ionic liquids. When a reaction works well in a given organic solvent, there is not much need to replace that solvent by an ionic liquid. Of more importance are the reactions that work better in ionic liquids than in other solvents.<sup>164,165</sup> In principle, also the chemoselectivity and regioselectivity of a reaction can be changed by a proper choice of the ionic liquid.

On the other hand, lanthanide compounds are often used a reagents in organic synthesis. Several reviews on lanthanide-mediated organic reactions are available.166-172 Rareearth triflates and especially scandium(III) triflate have been widely explored as Lewis acids to mediate different types of organic reactions, mainly thanks to the pioneering work by Kobayashi.<sup>172-177</sup> Major advantages of these rare-earth salts are that they are water-tolerant Lewis acids (in contrast to strong Lewis acids like AlCl<sub>3</sub>) and that catalytic amounts rather than stoichiometric amounts can be used in many cases. Although the rare-earth salts have to compete in Lewis acid chemistry with other metal salts like indium(III),<sup>178-180</sup> gallium(III),<sup>181,182</sup> and bismuth(III) salts,<sup>183-186</sup> they still remain popular reagents for organic synthesis. It is therefore not surprising that ionic liquids have been explored as solvents for lanthanide-mediated organic reactions.<sup>187</sup> The main rationale for choosing ionic liquids in these reactions is the recyclability of the solvent/catalyst systems and the easy product separation. However, in most of these studies, no higher reactivities or different selectivities could be observed in comparison with the conventional organic solvents. But there are some remarkable exceptions. The

immobilizing of lanthanide reagents in ionic liquids is an alternative approach to the use of solid-phase supports<sup>188</sup> or fluorous solvents<sup>189</sup> in lanthanide-mediated organic synthesis.

## 7.1. C–C Bond Formation

#### 7.1.1. Friedel–Crafts Reactions

Friedel-Crafts reactions are an archetype of reactions on which rare-earth Lewis acids catalysts have been tested. A seminal paper on the use of lanthanide salts as catalysts in ionic liquids is the work of Song et al. on the Friedel-Crafts alkylation of aromatic compounds with alkenes, which is catalyzed by scandium(III) triflate, Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>.<sup>190</sup> No reaction occurred between benzene and 1-hexene in the presence of 20 mol % Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> in water, in organic solvents (dichloromethane, acetonitrile, nitromethane, nitrobenzene), or in the absence of an solvent. The reaction did not proceed in hydrophilic imidazolium ionic liquids with  $[OTf]^-$  or  $[BF_4]^$ anions, although  $Sc(OTf)_3$  is well soluble in these ionic liquids. However, in hydrophobic imidazolium ionic liquids with  $[PF_6]^-$  and  $[SbF_6]^-$  counterions, alkylation proceeded smoothly at room temperature, and quantitative conversion was obtained after 12 h (Table 1). This behavior was

Table 1. Friedel-Crafts Alkylation of Benzene with 1-Hexene in the Presence of 20 mol % Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> in Various Solvents<sup>190</sup>



0

0

> 99

>99

[C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf]

 $[C_5 mim][PF_6]$ 

 $[C_6 mim][PF_6]$ 

0

0

95 (1.6:1)

95 (2:1)

unexpected, because Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> is not soluble in these hydrophobic ionic liquids. The observation that isomerization of the alkene took place prior to ring substitution shows that first a carbocation is formed. The ionic liquid stabilizes the cationic intermediate. Very little dialkylated product was obtained. Aromatic compounds other than benzene that have been tested for this reaction were phenol and anisole. Alkenes other than 1-hexene are cyclopentene, cyclohexene, and norbornene. When Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> was replaced by another rareearth triflate, the yields were much lower. In fact, besides Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, only Y(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, Ho(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, Tm(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, and Lu(OTf)<sub>3</sub> showed reactivity in the reaction of benzene with cyclohexene.

The use of ionic liquids for the Friedel-Crafts alkenylation of aromatic compounds with alkynes and with rare-earth triflates as catalysts resulted not only in an increased reaction rate but also in the formation of less byproducts.<sup>191</sup> The reaction between benzene and 1-phenyl-1-propyne proceeded in good yields in the hydrophobic ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  and  $[C_4mim][SbF_6]$  with scandium(III) triflate as the catalyst (0.1 equiv of the catalyst) (Table 2). A much lower yield

Table 2. Friedel–Crafts Alkenylation of Benzene with 1-Phenyl-propyne  $^{191}\,$ 

*	С СН3	metal triflate (0.1 equiv.) [C4mim][X] 85°C	CH <sub>3</sub>
catalyst	ionic liquid	time [h]	yield [%]
Sc(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	none	96	27
$Sc(OTf)_3$	[C4mim][SbH	F <sub>6</sub> ] 4	91
Sc(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub>	] 4	90
$Y(OTf)_3$	[C4mim][SbH	F <sub>6</sub> ] 2	80
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	[C4mim][SbI	F <sub>6</sub> ] 4	81
Lu(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	[C4mim][SbI	F <sub>6</sub> ] 4	94

was obtained in the absence of the ionic liquid, and after long reaction times, large quantities of side products were obtained. Also the use of the hydrophilic ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf] resulted in very low yields. Different rare-earth triflates were tested, and besides scandium(III) triflate, good catalytic activity was found for yttrium(III), ytterbium(III), and lutetium(III) triflates. It is remarkable that a higher catalytic activity was observed for yttrium(III) triflate than for scandium(III) triflate, although holmium(III) and erbium(III) triflate are much less active. This is remarkable because yttrium(III), holmium(III), and erbium(III) are expected to have a similar Lewis acidity due to their similar ionic radii. After reaction, the ionic liquid phase containing the rare-earth catalysts could simply be separated from the organic products by decantation. Although the ionic liquid with catalyst could be reused, a decrease in reactivity was observed. To rule out the possibility that the reactivity was due to hydrogen fluoride impurities from the hydrolysis of the hexafluorophosphate ions, the reaction was tested in the absence of metal triflates; in this case, the reaction did not occur. Different types of arenes and alkynes have been tested to study the scope of the reaction (Table 3).

Table 3. Friedel–Crafts Alkenylation of Various Arenes with Various Alkynes<sup>191</sup>

	D - Di t	Sc(UTT)3 (0.1	equiv.) R	н _/
	кк	Ai ─ n[C₄mim][\$ 85°C	SbF <sub>6</sub> ] Ar	<sup>3</sup> R'
R	R′	arene	time [h]	yield [%]
Ph	Me	<i>p</i> -xylene	4	96
Ph	Н	benzene	4	68
Ph	Н	<i>p</i> -xylene	4	60
Ph	Ph	benzene	2	59
Ph	Ph	benzene	4	62
Ph	Ph	<i>p</i> -xylene	4	80
Ph	Ph	toluene	2	83
Ph	Ph	chlorobenzene	6	44
Ph	Ph	anisole	2	73
p-CF <sub>3</sub> Ph	I H	<i>p</i> -xylene	22	73
<i>p</i> -ClPh	Н	<i>p</i> -xylene	12	63

Ross and Xiao have investigated benzoylation of anisole catalyzed by metal triflates in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] (Scheme 1).<sup>192</sup> The triflates Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub>, Zn(OTf)<sub>2</sub>, Sn(OTf)<sub>2</sub>, and Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> have been tested. The highest activity was

Scheme 1. Benzoylation of Anisole



found for Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub>, while Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> was least active: under the conditions where Cu(OTf)<sub>2</sub> gave quantitative conversion of benzoyl chloride, a conversion of only 10% was observed for Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>. Addition of trifluoroacetic acid increased the activity of Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, although the reaction did not proceed when trifluoroacetic acid was used in the absence of Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>. The kinetics of the Friedel–Crafts benzoylation of anisole with benzoic anhydride to yield 4-methoxy benzophenone have been studied in different types of ionic liquids and metal triflate catalysts, including rare-earth triflates (Scheme 2).<sup>193</sup> The ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>],

Scheme 2. Friedel-Crafts Benzoylation of Anisole with Benzoic Anhydride To Yield 4-Methoxybenzophenone



[C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf], and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N] have been tested, and initial screening showed that little reactivity could be observed in the hydrophilic ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf] but good reactivity in the hydrophobic ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Tf<sub>2</sub>N]. The activity of Sm(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, and  $Y(TfO)_3$  is much lower than that of  $Sc(OTf)_3$ . The activity of Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> is slightly lower than those of Al(OTf)<sub>3</sub> and In(OTf)<sub>3</sub>. The authors propose a model in which the catalyst undergoes ligand exchange with benzoic anhydride, so that the free acid is formed in situ. This free acid (HOTf or HTf<sub>2</sub>N) is the active catalyst. Friedel-Crafts acylations of ferrocene with acyl chlorides and anhydrides and with ytterbium(III) triflate as the catalyst were carried out in the ionic liquid N-butylpyridinium tetrafluoroborate, [C4py]-[BF<sub>4</sub>].<sup>194</sup> Monoacylated products were obtained under mild conditions (Table 4). No diacylated products were observed.

Table 4. Friedel-Crafts Acylation of Ferrocene<sup>194</sup>

Fe Ø	, + , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	X [C4py][BF	equiv.) Fe	R
R	Х	time [h]	temp [°C]	yield [%]
CH <sub>3</sub>	OAc	6	RT	97
CH <sub>3</sub>	Cl	6	RT	94
CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>	OAc	6	RT	92
$CH_2CH_3$	Cl	6	RT	90
C <sub>17</sub> H <sub>35</sub>	Cl	8	50	89
Ph	Cl	8	50	72
p-CH₃Ph	Cl	8	50	83
p-CH <sub>3</sub> Oph	Cl	8	50	89
p-ClPh	Cl	24	50	46
PhCH <sub>2</sub>	Cl	8	50	88
PhCH=CH	Cl	12	50	90

ö

#### 7.1.2. Diels-Alder Reactions

Scandium(III) triflate was used as a catalyst for Diels– Alder reaction in ionic liquids.<sup>195</sup> In contrast to the Friedel– Crafts alkylation reaction, the Diels–Alder reaction of 1,4-

Table 5. Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Diels–Alder Reaction between 1,4-Naphthoquinone and 1,3-Dimethylbutadiene<sup>195</sup>



naphthoquinone with 1,3-dimethylbutadiene also proceeds in a hydrophilic triflate ionic liquid (Table 5). An amount as low as 0.2 mol % of Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> was enough for quantitative conversion of the reagents in 2 h at room temperature. With 10 mol % of Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, the reaction was complete in seconds. Different dienophiles and dienes have been tested. An interesting observation was the improvement of the *endo/ exo* selectivity (*endo/exo*  $\geq$  99:1). The reactions could also be carried out in dichloromethane with the ionic liquid as an additive. The ionic liquid with the Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> catalyst dissolved in it could be recycled and reused many times without loss in activity.

Microencapsulated scandium(III) triflate was found to be active as a catalyst for an aza-Diels—Alder reaction between an aldehyde, an amine, and 1-methoxy-3-(trimethylsilyl)-oxybuta-1,3-diene to produce 5,6-dihydro-4-pyridone (Scheme 3).<sup>196</sup> The ionic liquids were 8-ethyl-diazabicyclo[4,5,0]-7-

#### Scheme 3. One-Pot Synthesis of *N*-Phenyl-6-phenyl-5,6-dihydro-4-pyridone



undecenium triflate and 1-ethyl-3-methyl-1*H*-imidazolium triflate. Scandium(III) triflate in  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  catalyzes the [4 + 2] cycloaddition reaction of imines (formed in situ from enol ethers and amines) with cyclic enol ethers to afford pyrano[3,2-c]quinoline or furo[3,2-c]quinoline derivatives (Scheme 4).<sup>85</sup> In the hydrophilic ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ 

## Scheme 4. Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Synthesis of Pyrano- and Furo[3,2-*c*]quinolines



and  $[C_4mim][OTf]$ , only moderate yields were obtained. The ionic liquid phase containing  $Sc(OTf)_3$  could be recovered after reaction by extraction with diethyl ether.

## 7.1.3. Other C-C Bond-Forming Reactions

An enhanced activity was observed for the electrophilic reactions of indoles with aldehydes and ketones that were catalyzed by  $Dy(OTf)_3$  in imidazolium and pyridinium ionic liquids with tetrafluoroborate or hexafluorophosphate anions (Table 6).<sup>197</sup> The reaction of hexanal with indole was tested

Table 6.  $\mbox{Dy}(\mbox{OTf})_3\mbox{-Catalyzed Reaction of Indoles with Aldehydes or Ketones^{197}$ 

N'H	+	0 R R' -	Dy(OTf) <sub>3</sub> IL solvent RT		
R	R′	mol % Dy(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	ionic liquid	time [h]	yield [%]
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>13</sub>	Н	2	[C4mim][BF4]	1	95
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>13</sub>	Н	0	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	1	0
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>13</sub>	Н	2	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	1	88
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>13</sub>	Н	2	[C <sub>4</sub> py][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	1	89
Ph	Н	2	$[C_4 mim][BF_4]$	1	98
p-ClPh	Н	2	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	1	96
<i>p</i> -CH <sub>3</sub> OPh	Н	2	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	1	99
CH <sub>3</sub>	$CH_3$	5	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	24	96
CH <sub>3</sub>	$CH_3$	5	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	24	94
CH <sub>3</sub>	$CH_3$	5	$[C_4 py][BF_4]$	24	98
Ph	$CH_3$	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	24	88

as a model reaction in the ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ ,  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$ , and  $[C_4py][BF_4]$ , and the highest yield was observed in  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ . No rare-earth triflates other than  $Dy(OTf)_3$  have been tested. Imines undergo electrophilic reactions in a way similar to the carbonyl compounds. Two major products are formed, a secondary indolyl amine and a bisindolyl methane (Scheme 5). The highest yield for the

## Scheme 5. $Dy(OTf)_3$ -Catalyzed Reaction of Indole with *N*-Benzylidene Aniline in [C<sub>4</sub>py][BF<sub>4</sub>]



secondary indolyl amine was observed in the ionic liquid  $[C_{4}py][BF_{4}]$ . In a comparative study of different Lewis acids as catalyst for the synthesis of bis(indolyl)methanes by reaction between aldehydes and indoles in ionic liquids, a reasonable reactivity was found for YbCl<sub>3</sub>, but this salt was much less reactive than the best catalyst, In(OTf)<sub>3</sub> (Scheme 6).<sup>198</sup>

The Baylis–Hillman reaction, that is, the coupling of activated alkenes with aldehydes promoted by tertiary amines, proceeds faster in ionic liquids than in acetonitrile.<sup>199</sup> The authors tested the reaction of methyl acrylate, benzaldehyde, and 1,4-diazabicyclo[2,2,2]octane (DABCO) (1:1:1 molar ratio) in different ionic liquids of the type [C<sub>4</sub>mim]X

Scheme 6. Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Synthesis of 3,3'-Bis(indolyl)-4-chlorophenylmethane in [C<sub>8</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>]



Scheme 7. Baylis-Hillman Reaction of Benzaldehyde with Methylacrylate



 $(X = OAc, OTf, Tf_2N, BF_4, SbF_6, and PF_6)$  with La(OTf)<sub>3</sub> or Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> as the catalyst (Scheme 7). The best results were obtained with [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][OTf]. Lanthanum-(III) triflate was found to be a more efficient catalyst than scandium(III) triflate for this reaction.

Lee and Park described a one-pot three-component Mannich reaction between an aldehyde, an amine, and a silyl enol ether catalyzed by ytterbium(III) triflate in imidazolium ionic liquids with benzene as a cosolvent.<sup>200</sup> Benzaldehyde, aniline, and acetophenone trimethylsilylenolate react to give a  $\beta$ -amino ketone (Table 7). Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub> is a very active

 Table 7. One-Pot Mannich-Type Reaction of Benzaldehyde,

 Aniline, and Acetophenone Trimethylsilylenolate<sup>200</sup>

CHO + NH <sub>2</sub>	+ OTMS	IL solvent 20°C, 15 min	NH O
-----------------------	--------	----------------------------	------

catalyst	catalyst loading [mol %]	ionic liquid	yield [%]
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	85
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	91
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	0.1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	80
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	none	50
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][SbF <sub>6</sub> ]	72
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	40
Sc(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	76

catalyst; a fast reaction was observed with an amount as low as 0.1 mol %. This is also one of the few examples where  $Sc(OTf)_3$  is a poorer catalyst than  $Yb(OTf)_3$ . The use of an ionic liquid is essential, because in benzene as solvent the yields were much lower.  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  gave higher yields than  $[C_4mim][SbF_6]$  or  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ .

Cyclic aliphatic ketones can condense with aldehydes to  $\alpha, \alpha'$ -bis-(substituted benzylidene) cycloalkanones by the action of SmI<sub>3</sub> as the catalyst (20 mol %) (Scheme 8).<sup>201</sup> The reactions were carried out in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>]. As cyclic aliphatic ketones, cyclopentanone and cyclohexanone have been used. Cycloheptanone did not react. Benzaldehyde, aniline, and diethyl phosphonate react in a three-component reaction with rare-earth triflates to afford  $\alpha$ -amino phosphonates (Table 8).<sup>202</sup> Anhydrous Sm(OTf)<sub>3</sub> is the most effective rare-earth catalyst in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>], whereas anhydrous Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub> is more effective in organic solvents. Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> was only moderately active with diethyl phosphonate but was very active when triethyl phosphite, P(OEt)<sub>3</sub>, was used as the phosphorus-containing nucleophile. The hydrated rare-earth triflates have a much lower activity than

Scheme 8. SmI<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Condensation of Cyclopentanone and Cyclohexanone



Table 8. Three-Component Reaction of Benzaldehyde, Aniline, and Diethyl Phosphonate Affording an  $\alpha$ -Amino Phosphonate in Ionic Liquids<sup>202</sup>



catalyst	catalyst loading [mol %]	ionic liquid	yield [%]
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	95
Sc(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	80
Dy(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	94
Sm(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	$[C_4 mim][PF_6]$	99
Yb(OTf) <sub>3</sub> •H <sub>2</sub> O	10	$[C_4 mim][PF_6]$	63
La(OTf) <sub>3</sub> •H <sub>2</sub> O	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][PF <sub>6</sub> ]	39
Sm(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	1	$[C_4 mim][PF_6]$	95
Sm(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][SbF <sub>6</sub> ]	71
Sm(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][BF <sub>4</sub> ]	18
Sm(OTf) <sub>3</sub>	10	[C <sub>4</sub> mim][OTf]	89

the corresponding anhydrous salts. For a given rare-earth triflate, the reaction yields depend on the ionic liquid:  $[C_4mim][PF_6] > [C_4mim][OTf] > [C_4mim][SbF_6] > [C_4mim][BF_4]$ . Aldehydes react with a homoallyl alcohol to afford tetrahydropyranol derivatives. This reaction is catalyzed by hydrated cerium(III) triflate (Scheme 9).<sup>203</sup> Yields

Scheme 9. Formation of Tetrahydropyranols by Reaction between Homoallyl Alcohol and Benzaldehyde



were only moderate. It was found that the use of the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  as solvent resulted in the formation of less side products than when chloroform was used as solvent.

Zulfiqar and Kitazume illustrated the usefulness of ionic liquids as a solvent for high-temperature reactions by carrying out sequential Claisen rearrangements and cyclization reactions at 200 °C in the presence of anhydrous scandium(III) triflate as catalyst (Scheme 10).<sup>204</sup> The ionic liquids tried

#### Scheme 10. Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Sequential Reaction Involving a Claisen Rearrangement and a Cyclization



out are [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>], [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>], 8-ethyl-1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]-7-undecenium triflate and 8-methyl-1,8-diazabicyclo[5,4,0]-7-undecenium triflate. Grée and co-workers showed that ytterbium(III) triflate catalyzes the carbon-Ferrier rearrangement of tri-*O*-acetyl derivatives of *d*-glucal with allyl silanes, propargyl silane, and silyl enol ethers in ionic liquid solvents ( $[C_4mim][BF_4]$  and  $[C_4mim][Tf_2N]$ ).<sup>205</sup>

Kobayashi and co-workers showed that the combination of silica gel supported scandium(III) triflate with a hydrophobic ionic liquid creates a hydrophobic environment in water.<sup>206</sup> In this way, reactions with water-labile substrates could be performed in water. The catalyst was prepared by adding silica gel supported Sc(OTf)<sub>3</sub> to a solution of an ionic liquid in ethyl acetate, and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The final catalyst is a free-flowing powder and forms a colloidal suspension in water. Different types of C–C bond formation reactions were tested, including Mukaiyama aldol condensations, Mannich reactions, allylations, and hydromethylations. For most reactions, 1-butyl-3-decylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate has been selected as the ionic liquid.

## 7.2. C-X Bond Formation

Handy and Egrie reported the use of ytterbium(III) triflate, Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub>, as a catalyst for the nitration of aromatic compounds with HNO<sub>3</sub> in the ionic liquid *N*-butyl-*N*-methylpyrrolidinium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide (Scheme 11).<sup>207</sup> A pyrrolidinium ionic liquid rather than an imidazo-lium ionic liquid was chosen as the solvent, in order to avoid problems with the nitration of the imidazolium ring under the given reaction conditions. The yields and regioselectivities (*ortho/meta/para* isomer distributions) were comparable with those in other solvents. However, only electron-rich aromatics could be nitrated; no reaction was observed for bromobenzene. The catalyst loading was 10 mol %.

#### Scheme 11. Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Nitration of Toluene



Tetrabutylammonium and tetrabutylphosphonium halides have been applied as ionic liquid solvents. For instance, a mixture of zinc powder and CeCl<sub>3</sub>·7H<sub>2</sub>O was used as reagent for the thiolization of 1,2-epoxides with aryl disulfides in tetrabutylammonium and tetrabutylphosphonium halides (Scheme 12).<sup>208</sup> The highest yields were observed when

Scheme 12. Thiolysis of Styrene Oxide with Phenyldisulfide in the Ionic Liquid Tetrabutylammonium Bromide (TBAB) in the Presence of Zinc Powder and Cerium(III) Chloride Heptahydrate



tetrabutylphosphonium bromide was chosen as the solvent. CeCl<sub>3</sub>·7H<sub>2</sub>O is a good catalyst for the enamination of benzoylacetone and *p*-toluidine, and better yields were obtained in the tetrabutylammonium bromide (TBAB) ionic liquid than under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 13).<sup>209</sup> Although reactions in ionic liquids are generally carried out at room temperature or at moderate temperatures, some

Scheme 13. Enamination of Benzoylacetone and *p*-Toluidine, Catalyzed by Cerium(III) Chloride Heptahydrate



reactions require higher reaction temperatures. Here the low volatility and the thermal stability of ionic liquids offer an advantage.

*O*-Glycopyranosides were prepared in good yields from tri-*O*-acetyl derivatives of *d*-glucal and alcohols, phenols, and hydroxy  $\alpha$ -amino acids in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] with dysprosium(III) triflate as the catalyst (Scheme 14).<sup>86</sup> Dyspro-

#### Scheme 14. Synthesis of 2,3-Unsaturated Glycopyranosides



sium(III) triflate is not soluble in  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$ , but nevertheless the yields were much better in this ionic liquid than in the ionic liquid  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ , in which the rare-earth salt could be solubilized.

Scandium(III) triflate in the imidazolium ionic liquids  $[C_4mim][PF_6]$  and  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$  is an efficient reaction medium for the thioacetalization and transthioacetalization of aldehydes (Scheme 15).<sup>210</sup> Thioacetals are important

Scheme 15. Thioacetalization of Benzaldehyde, Catalyzed by  $Sc(OTf)_3$ 



protecting groups for aldehydes. A transthioacetalization reaction converts an *O*,*O*-acetal into an *S*,*S*-acetal. The reaction of a carbonyl compound with 2-mercaptoethanol affords a 1,3-oxathiolane (Scheme 16). Ytterbium(III) triflate

Scheme 16. Yb(OTf)<sub>3</sub>-Catalyzed Conversion of Carbonyl Compounds into 1,3-Oxathiolanes

$$\begin{array}{c} R \\ R \\ \end{array} \rightarrow \qquad Ho \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} HS \\ \hline (C_{4}mim][PF_{6}] \\ RT \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} R \\ R \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

has been chosen as a catalyst for the reaction in imidazolium ionic liquid solvents.<sup>211</sup> The highest yields were obtained in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>]. [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][Br] gave lower yields.

#### 7.3. Oxidation and Reduction Reactions

Salts of tetravalent cerium and especially  $(NH_4)_2$ -[Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub>] (cerium(IV) ammonium nitrate or CAN) and Ce(OTf)<sub>4</sub> have often been used as selective oxidants in organic synthesis.<sup>166,169,212–214</sup> However, only a few studies have been reported on the cerium(IV)-mediated oxidation reactions in ionic liquids.<sup>87</sup> This is partially due to the poor solubility of cerium(IV) salts in different classes of ionic liquids. A mixture of [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and dichloromethane was the solvent for oxidative free radical reactions mediated by cerium(IV) ammonium nitrate (CAN).<sup>215</sup> [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] has also been replaced by 1-butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate. A typical reaction is the reaction of 2,4pentanedione (1 equiv) and  $\alpha$ -methylstyrene (5 equiv) with CAN (2.1 equiv) in [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>]/dichloromethane (1:5) (Scheme 17). The yield was similar to that observed in

## Scheme 17. CAN-Mediated Oxidative Cyclization Reaction between 2,4-Pentadione and $\alpha$ -Methylstyrene



acetonitrile, but much higher than that in dichloromethane without ionic liquid additive. The ionic liquid facilitates the oxidative cyclization reaction. The authors report that the reactions can also be carried out solely in the ionic liquid but that the yields are lower than those in ionic liquid/ dichloromethane mixtures. For instance, the reaction shown in Scheme 17 gave 83% yield after 2 h in  $[C_4mim][BF_4]/$  dichloromethane (1:5) solvent, compared with 56% yield in  $[C_4mim][BF_4]$  solvent. The cerium byproducts precipitated at the end of the reaction.

Mehdi et al. evaluated the use of imidazolium ionic liquids as solvents for organic transformations with tetravalent cerium salts as oxidizing agents.<sup>87</sup> Good solubility was found for ammonium hexanitratocerate(IV) (ceric ammonium nitrate, CAN) and cerium(IV) triflate in 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate ionic liquids. The authors studied the oxidation of benzyl alcohol to benzaldehyde in 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium triflate by in situ FTIR spectroscopy and by <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy of carbon-13 labeled benzyl alcohol. It was found that careful control of the reaction conditions was necessary, because ammonium hexanitratocerate(IV) dissolved in an ionic liquid can transform benzyl alcohol not only into benzaldehyde but also into benzyl nitrate or benzoic acid (Scheme 18). The selectivity of the

#### Scheme 18. Reaction Products Observed upon Oxidation of Benzyl Alcohol by Cerium(IV) Ammonium Nitrate (CAN) in the Ionic Liquid [C<sub>2</sub>mim][OTf]



reaction of cerium(IV) triflate with benzyl alcohol in dry ionic liquids depends on the degree of hydration of cerium-(IV) triflate: anhydrous cerium(IV) triflate transforms benzyl alcohol into dibenzyl ether, whereas hydrated cerium(IV) triflate affords benzaldehyde as the main reaction product (Scheme 19). 1,4-Hydroquinone is quantitatively transformed into 1,4-quinone. Anisole and naphthalene are nitrated. The authors reported that for the cerium-mediated oxidation reactions in ionic liquids, high reaction temperatures are an advantage because under these conditions smaller amounts of byproducts are formed.

Although samarium(II) iodide (SmI<sub>2</sub>, Kagan's reagent) is widely used as a selective reductant in organic synthesis,<sup>166,168</sup> so far no studies on lanthanide(II)-mediated reactions have been reported. It can be anticipated that it is just a matter of time before the first papers on organic reactions with lowScheme 19. Different Reaction Products for the Reaction of Benzyl Alcohol with Hydrated or Anhydrous Cerium(IV) Triflate in the Ionic Liquid [C<sub>2</sub>mim][OTf]



valent lanthanide compounds in ionic liquid solvents will be published.

## 7.4. Polymerization Reactions

A ring-opening polymerization of  $\epsilon$ -caprolactone has been carried out in  $[C_4 mim][BF_4]$  with a mixtures  $LnCl_3$  and an epoxide as the catalyst. The highest catalytic activities were observed for GdCl<sub>3</sub> and ErCl<sub>3</sub>.<sup>216</sup> Shen and co-workers investigated the polymerization of methyl methacrylate by a binary catalyst consisting of neodymium(III) versatate and isobutylaluminum in ionic liquids.<sup>217</sup> The ionic liquids [C<sub>2</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>], [C<sub>2</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>], [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>], and [C<sub>4</sub>mim][PF<sub>6</sub>] have been tested. The authors found a higher polymerization rate of methyl methacrylate and a higher molecular weight of poly(methyl methacrylate) in the ionic liquids than in toluene or under solventless conditions. The best results were obtained for  $[C_2 mim][BF_4]$ . The ionic liquid could be recycled and reused. It was also possible to prepare random and block copolymers of methyl methacrylate and styrene in these ionic liquids.

## 8. Applications in Materials Sciences

Although applications of lanthanide-containing ionic liquids are not strictly within the scope of this review and this field is still in its infancy, some examples will be given. An interesting paper by Gedanken and co-workers illustrates how lanthanide fluoride nanoparticles can be synthesized by decomposition of fluorine-containing ionic liquids.<sup>218</sup> When a solution of La(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>•6H<sub>2</sub>O or Y(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>•*x*H<sub>2</sub>O in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] was subjected to microwave irradiation in a domestic microwave oven, formation of LaF<sub>3</sub> and YF<sub>3</sub> was observed after a short time interval (5 min). The nanosized fluoride particles had an oval shape in the case of LaF<sub>3</sub> and a needlelike shape in case of YF<sub>3</sub>. The source of fluoride ions is the tetrafluoroborate ion, which undergoes hydrolysis in the presence of the hydration water molecules of the metal salts.

Ionogels are new materials in which an ionic liquid is confined within a silica network that can be synthesized by sol-gel processing.<sup>219</sup> The ionogels can be prepared as perfectly transparent monoliths that retain the ionic conductivity of the ionic liquid. Although an ionogel contains up to 80 wt % ionic liquid, it is a solid compound. Luminescent ionogels were prepared by doping them with a europium-(III)  $\beta$ -diketonate complex.<sup>220</sup> A very intense red photo-luminescence could be observed upon irradiation with ultraviolet light. These materials are at the same time luminescent and ion-conductive.

Lanthanide-containing ionic liquids crystals (*ionic lan-thanidomesogens*) will not be discussed here; the reader is referred to other recent reviews on this topic.<sup>221–225</sup> The main

rationale to incorporate lanthanides into liquid crystals is the possibility to design materials that combine the properties of lanthanides (luminescence, paramagnetism) with the properties of liquid crystals (switching behavior in external magnetic and electric fields). There exists only one example of an actinide-containing ionic liquid crystal, being a uranyl complex of a substituted imidazo[4,5-*f*]-1,10-phenanthroline ligand with triflate counterions (Figure 13).<sup>226</sup> The compound



Figure 13. Uranium-containing ionic liquid crystal.

exhibits a hexagonal columnar mesophase between 95 and 181 °C. Related to ionic liquids are the inorganic–organic hybrid materials that are prepared by ionic self-assembly.<sup>227–230</sup>

## 9. Conclusions and Outlook

This review gives an overview of the research possibilities that are offered by combining ionic liquids with f-elements. Many ionic liquids are solvents with weakly coordinating anions, and solvation of lanthanide and actinide ions in these solvents is different from what is observed in conventional organic solvents and water. The poorly solvating behavior can also lead to the formation of coordination compounds with low coordination numbers. The solvation of f-elements can be simulated by molecular dynamics simulations with explicit representation of the solvent or can be directly probed by spectroscopic methods. Ionic liquids turned out to be a promising solvent for near-infrared emitting lanthanide complexes. It is often mentioned that one of the main advantages of ionic liquids is their resistance to strongly oxidizing or reducing agents; that is, ionic liquids have a large electrochemical window. However, not all ionic liquids are suitable for study of the electrochemical properties and electrodeposition of f-elements. The metals of the lanthanides and actinides are very electropositive elements, and they will reduce imidazolium cations. More resistant against reduction are quaternary ammonium and phosphonium cations. Ionic liquids offer a large potential in the field of processing of spent nuclear fuel elements. The advantage is that the processing can be carried out at much lower temperature in ionic liquids than in inorganic molten salts. This not only reduces the energy cost but also increases the safety. The fact that several ionic liquids strongly absorb neutrons (especially boron- and chlorine-containing ionic liquids) reduces the risk of criticality accidents. The study of metalcatalyzed organic reactions in ionic liquid media is a very popular research theme. It is therefore not surprising that lanthanide-mediated organic reactions are being performed in ionic liquids as well. The possibility to recycle the lanthanide catalyst that is immobilized in the ionic liquid and the possibility of easy product separation have stimulated

researchers to work in this field. However, in only a few cases the use of (expensive) ionic liquids can be justified by the higher reactivity or selectivity. Research should be directed to find lanthanide-mediated organic reactions that do not work in conventional organic solvents but that cleanly react in ionic liquids. Finally, the combination of lanthanides and ionic liquids can lead to new types of advanced materials (luminescent or magnetic liquid crystals, ionogels, nanoparticles, etc.).

#### 10. Abbreviations

bmpyr	1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium
bppvr	1-butyl-1-propylpyrrolidinium
C <sub>2</sub> mim	1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium
C₄mim	1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium
C <sub>6</sub> mim	1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium
C <sub>10</sub> mim	1-decyl-3-methylimidazolium
C <sub>4</sub> py	<i>N</i> -butylpyridinium
CPMO	octyl(phenyl)-N,N-diisobutylcarbamoylmethyl
	phosphine oxide
DTPA	diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EXAFS	extended X-ray absorption fine structure
Htta	2-thenoyltrifluoroacetone
IL	ionic liquid
Ln	lanthanide
mppyr	1-methyl-1-propylpyrrolidinium
OTf	trifluoromethanesulfonate or triflate
phen	1,10-phenanthroline
RTIL	room-temperature ionic liquid
SEt <sub>3</sub>	triethylsulfonium
SHE	standard hydrogen electrode
$Tf_2N$	bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide
tta	2-thenoyltrifluoroacetonate

#### 11. Acknowledgment

The author wishes to thank Dr. Peter Nockemann for his help in preparing the figures of the crystal structures and to acknowledge the K.U.Leuven for financial support (Project IDO/05/005).

## 12. Note Added in Proof

After the submission of the final version of the manuscript, some additional papers were brought to my attention and new papers relevant to the subject of this review have been published. Khosropour and coworkers tested the cerium salts  $Ce(NO_3)_3 \cdot xH_2O$ ,  $CeCl_3 \cdot 7H_2O$  and  $(NH_4)_2[Ce(NO_3)_6]$  as catalysts for the dehydropyranylation of benzyl alcohol in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>py][FeCl<sub>4</sub>].<sup>231</sup> Excellent results were obtained for (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>[Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub>] (CAN). This salt was found to be a useful reagent for the protection of hydroxyl group by conversion to the corresponding tetrahydropyranyl, tetrahydrofuranyl and trimethylsilyl ethers. Gadolinium(III) triflate was used as a catalyst for the acylation of alcohols, phenols and amines in the ionic liquids [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>] and  $[C_4 mim][PF_6]^{.232} \beta$ -Lactams were obtained from imines and acetyl chlorides in  $[C_4 py][BF_4]$ , with the aid of catalytic amounts of ytterbium(III) triflate.<sup>233</sup> The same rare-earth salt was used for the synthesis of 1,2-dihydroquinolines from anilines and acetone in the ionic liquid [C<sub>4</sub>mim][BF<sub>4</sub>].<sup>234</sup> Sun and coworkers separated scandium(III) from yttrium(III), lanthanum(III) and ytterbium(III) by solvent extraction using the  $[C_8 mim][PF_6]/Cyanex 925$  system as the organic phase.<sup>235</sup> Bünzli and coworkers investigated the phase transitions in

the europium(III)-doped ionic liquid crystal  $[C_{12}mim]Cl$  by monitoring the luminescence intensity and the luminescence decay time as a function of the temperature.<sup>236</sup> Giridhar et al. reported a study on the electrochemical properties of uranyl nitrate in [C<sub>4</sub>mim]Cl.<sup>237</sup>

#### 13. References

- (1) Welton, T. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 2071.
- (2) Earle, M. J.; Seddon, K. R. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 1391.
- (3) Wasserscheid, P.; Keim, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3772.
- (4) Wasserscheid, P., Welton, T., Eds. Ionic Liquids in Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2002.
- (5)Dupont, J.; de Souza, R. F.; Suarez, P. A. Z. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3667.
- (6) Ohno, H., Ed. Electrochemical aspects of ionic liquids; Wiley: New York. 2005.
- (7) MacFarlane, D. R.; Meakin, P.; Sun, J.; Amini, N.; Forsyth, M. J. Phys. Chem. B 1999, 103, 4164.
- (8) Sun, J.; Forsyth, M.; MacFarlane, D. R. J. Phys. Chem. B 1998, 102, 8858.
- (9) Chen, H.; Kwait, D. C.; Gonen, Z. S.; Weslowski, B. T.; Abdallah, D. J.; Weiss, R. G. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 4063.
- (10) Bradaric, C. J.; Downard, A.; Kennedy, C.; Robertson, A. J.; Zhou, Y. H. Green Chem. 2003, 5, 143.
- (11) Bonhôte, P.; Dias, A. P.; Papageorgiou, N.; Kalyanasundaram, K.; Grätzel, M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1168.
- (12) Hagiwara, R.; Ito, Y. J. Fluorine Chem. 2000, 105, 221.
- (13) MacFarlane, D. R.; Sun, J.; Golding, J.; Meakin, P.; Forsyth, M. Electrochim. Acta 2000, 45, 1271.
- (14) Matsumoto, H.; Yanagida, M.; Tanimoto, K.; Nomura, M.; Kitagawa, Y.; Miyazaki, Y. Chem. Lett. 2000, 922. (15) Lin, I. J. B.; Vasam, C. S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2005, 690, 3498.
- (16) Earle, M. J.; Esparanca, J. M. S. S.; Gilea, M. A.; Lopes, J. N. C.; Rebelo, L. P. N.; Magee, J. W.; Seddon, K. R.; Wildegren, J. A. Nature 2006, 439, 831.
- (17) Rogers, R. D.; Seddon, K. R. Science 2003, 302, 792.
- (18) Seddon, K. R. Kinet. Catal. 1996, 37, 693.
- (19) Marsh, K. N.; Deev, A.; Wu, A. C. T.; Tran, E.; Klamt, A. Korean J. Chem. Eng. 2002, 19, 357.
- (20) Nelson, W. M. ACS Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 30.
- (21) Swatloski, R. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Rogers, R. D. Green Chem. 2003, 5.361.
- (22) McEwen, A. B.; Ngo, H. L.; LeCompte, K.; Goldman, J. L. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1999, 146, 1687.
- (23) Endres, F. ChemPhysChem 2002, 3, 144.
- (24) Aki, S. N. V. K.; Brennecke, J. F.; Samanta, A. Chem. Commun. 2001, 413.
- (25) Carmichael, A. J.; Seddon, K. R. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2000, 13, 591.
- (26) Chauvin, Y.; Olivier-Bourbigou, H. ChemTech 1995, 25, 26.
- (27) Zhao, H.; Malhotra, S. V. Aldrichim. Acta 2002, 35, 75
- (28) Olivier-Bourbigou, H.; Magna, L. J. Mol. Catal. A 2002, 182, 419.
- (29) Jain, N.; Kumar, A.; Chauhan, S.; Chauhan, S. M. S. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 1015.
- (30) Boon, J. A.; Levisky, J. A.; Pflug, J. L.; Wilkes, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 480.
- (31) Adams, C. J.; Earle, M. J.; Roberts, G.; Seddon, K. R. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2097.
- (32) Earle, M. J.; McCormac, P. B.; Seddon, K. R. Green Chem. 1999, 1, 23.
- (33) Carmichael, A. J.; Earle, M. J.; Holbrey, J. D.; McCormac, P. B.; Seddon, K. R. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 997.
- (34) Strehmel, V.; Laschewsky, A.; Wetzel, H.; Gornitz, E. Macromolecules 2006, 39, 923.
- (35) Sheldon, R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 2399.
- (36) Zhao, D. B.; Wu, M.; Kou, Y.; Min, E. Catal. Today 2002, 74, 157.
- (37) Gordon, C. M. Appl. Catal. A 2001, 222, 101.
- (38) Huddleston, J. G.; Willauer, H. D.; Swatlowski, R. P.; Visser, A. E.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1765.
- (39) Kubota, F.; Goto, M. Solvent Extr. Res. Dev., Jpn. 2006, 13, 23. (40) Nakashima, K.; Kubota, F.; Maruyama, T.; Goto, M. Ind. Eng. Chem.
- Res. 2005, 44, 4368. (41) Zhao, H.; Xia, S. Q.; Ma, P. S. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2005,
- 80, 1089 (42) Bansal, D.; Cassel, F.; Croce, F.; Hendrickson, M.; Plichta, E.; Salomon, M. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 4492.
- (43) Lee, S.-Y.; Yong, H. H.; Lee, Y. J.; Kim, S. K.; Ahn, S. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 13663.
- (44) Papageorgiou, N.; Athanassov, Y.; Armand, M.; Bonhôte, P.; Pettersson, H.; Azam, A.; Gratzel, M. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1996, 143, 3099.

- (45) Wang, P.; Zakeeruddin, S. M.; Moser, J.-E.; Humphry-Baker, R.; Grätzel, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 7164.
- (46) Wang, P.; Zakeeruddin, S. M.; Moser, J.-E.; Grätzel, M. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 13280.
- (47) Hussey, C. L. Adv. Molten Salt Chem. 1983, 5, 185.
- (48) Hussey, C. L. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1763.
- (49) Wilkes, J. S.; Levisky, J. A.; Wilson, R. A.; Hussey, C. L. Inorg. Chem. 1982, 21, 1263.
- (50) Robinson, J.; Osteryoung, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 323.
- (51) Karraker, D. G. J. Chem. Educ. 1970, 47, 424.
- (52) Haley, T. J. Toxicity. In Handbook on the Physics and Chemistry of Rare Earths; Gschneidner, K. A., Jr., Eyring, L., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1979; Vol. 4, Chapter 40, p 553.
- (53) Anastas, P. T.; Warner, J. C. Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice; Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- (54) Cossy, C.; Merbach, A. E. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1785.
- (55) Choppin, G. R. J. Alloys Compd. 1995, 223, 174.
- (56) Moeller, T. The Chemistry of the Lanthanides; Chapman & Hall: London, 1965.
- (57) Chaumont, A.; Wipff, G. Phys. Chem. Phys. 2003, 5, 3481.
- (58) Chaumont, A.; Engler, E.; Wipff, G. Inorg. Chem. 2003, 42, 5348.
  - (59) Chaumont, A.; Wipff, G. Inorg. Chem. 2004, 43, 5891.
  - (60) Chaumont, A.; Wipff, G. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 3919.
  - (61) Chaumont, A.; Wipff, G. J. Phys. Chem. B 2004, 108, 3311.
  - (62) Chaumont, A.; Wipff, G. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2005, 7, 1926.
  - (63) Lipsztajn, M.; Osteryoung, R. A. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 716.
  - (64) Matsumoto, K.; Tsuda, T.; Nohira, T.; Hagiwara, R.; Ito, Y.; Tamada, O. Acta. Crystallgr. 2002, C58, m185.
  - (65) Billard, I.; Mekki, S.; Gaillard, C.; Hesemann, P.; Moutiers, G.; Mariet, C.; Bünzli, J.-C. G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2004, 1190.
  - (66) Görller-Walrand, C.; De Moitié-Neyt, N.; Beyens, Y.; Bünzli, J.-C. J. Chem. Phys. 1982, 77, 2261.
  - (67) Gaillard, C.; Billard, I.; Chaumont, A.; Mekki, S.; Ouadi, A.; Denecke, M. A.; Moutiers, G.; Wipff, G. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 8355.
  - (68) Cocalia, V. A.; Gutowski, K. E.; Rogers, R. D. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2006, 250, 755.
  - (69) Heerman, L.; De Waele, R.; D'Olieslager, W. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1985, 193, 289.
  - (70) Hitchcock, P. B.; Mohammed, T. J.; Seddon, K. R.; Zora, J. A.; Hussey, C. L.; Ward, H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 113, L25.
  - (71) Deetlefs, M.; Hitchcock, P. B.; Hussey, C. L.; Mohammed, T. J.; Seddon, K. R.; van den Berg, J. A.; Zora, J. A. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 901, 47.
  - (72) Deetlefs, M.; Hussey, C. L.; Mohammed, T. J.; Seddon, K. R.; van den Berg, J. A.; Zora, J. A. Dalton Trans. 2006, 2334.
  - (73) Mizuoka, K.; Ikeda, Y. Progr. Nucl. Energ. 2005, 47, 426.
  - (74) Gaillard, C.; El. Azzi, A.; Billard, I.; Bolvin, H.; Hennig, C. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 852.
  - (75) Schurhammer, R.; Wipff, G. J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 4659.
  - (76) Nikitenko, S. I.; Moisy, P. Inorg. Chem. 2006, 45, 1235.
- (77) Stumpf, S.; Billard, I.; Panak, P. J.; Mekki, S. Dalton Trans. 2007, 240
- (78) Hu, Y.-F.; Xu, C.-M., manuscript in preparation.
- Visser, A. E.; Swatloski, R. P.; Reichert, W. M.; Mayton, R.; Sheff, (79)S.; Wierzbicki, A.; Davis, J. H.; Rogers, R. D. Chem. Commun. 2001, 135.
- Visser, A. E.; Swatloski, R. P.; Reichert, W. M.; Mayton, R.; Sheff, (80)S.; Wierzbicki, A.; Davis, J. H.; Rogers, R. D. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 2523.
- (81) Davis, J. H. Chem. Lett. 2004, 1072.
- (82) Geldbach, T. J.; Dyson, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8114.
- (83) Branco, L. C.; Rosa, J. N.; Ramos, J. J. M.; Afonso, C. A. M. Chem.-Eur. J. 2002, 8, 3671.
- (84) Tsuda, T.; Nohira, T.; Ito, Y. Electrochim. Acta 2001, 46, 1891.
- (85) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Uma. Gayathri, K.; Prasad, A. R. Synthesis 2002, 2537.
- (86) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Reddy, J. S. S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 2002, 2390.
- (87) Mehdi, H.; Bodor, A.; Lantos, D.; Horvath, I. T.; De Vos, D. E.; Binnemans, K. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 517.
- (88)Billard, I.; Moutiers, G.; Labet, A.; Gaillard, C.; Mariet, C.; Lützenkirchen, K. Inorg. Chem. 2003, 42, 1726.
- Nockemann, P.; Thijs, B.; Pittois, S.; Thoen, J.; Glorieux, C.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Meervelt, L.; Kirchner, B.; Binnemans, K. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 20978.
- (90) Lopes, L.; Martinot, L.; Michaux, C. J. Radionucl. Nucl. Chem. 1994, 187, 99.
- (91) Dai, L.; Yu, S. Y.; Shan, Y. K.; He, M. Y. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2004, 237.
- (92) Nockemann, P.; Thijs, B.; Postelmans, N.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Meervelt, L.; Binnemans, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 13658.

- (93) Bhatt, A. I.; May, I.; Volkovich, V. A.; Collison, D.; Helliwell, M.; Polovov, I. B.; Lewin, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 4934.
- (94) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 6230.
- (95) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. J. Alloys Compd. 2006, 418, 122.
- (96) Mudring, A. V.; Babai, A.; Arenz, S.; Giernoth, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5485.
- (97) Binnemans, K. Rare-Earth Beta-Diketonates. In Handbook on the Physics and Chemistry of Rare Earths; Gschneidner, K. A., Jr., Bünzli, J.-C. G., Pecharsky, V. K., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2005; Vol. 35, Chapter 225, p 107.
- (98) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. Dalton Trans. 2006, 1828.
- (99) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. Inorg. Chem. 2006, 45, 4874.
- (100) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 8168.
   (101) Babai, A.; Mudring, A. V. Z. Anorg. Allge. Chem. 2006, 632, 1956.
- (102) Carnall, W. T. The Absorption and Fluorescence Spectra of Rare Earth Ions in Solution. In Handbook on the Physics and Chemistry of Rare Earths; Gschneidner, K. A. Jr., Eyring, L., Eds.; North-Holland: Amsterdam, 1979; Vol. 3, Chapter 24, p 171.
- (103) Bünzli, J.-C. G.; Piguet, C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2005, 34, 1048.
- (104) Horrocks, W. DeW., Jr.; Sudnick, D. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 334.
- (105) Guillet, E.; Imbert, D.; Scopelliti, R.; Bünzli, J.-C. G. Chem. Mater. **2004**, *16*, 4063.
- (106) Nockemann, P.; Beurer, E.; Driesen, K.; Van Deun, R.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Meervelt, L.; Binnemans, K. Chem. Commun. 2005, 4354.
- (107) Driesen, K.; Nockemann, P.; Binnemans, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 395. 306.
- (108) Arenz, S.; Babai, A.; Binnemans, K.; Driesen, K.; Giernoth, R.; Mudring, A. V.; Nockemann, P. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2005, 402, 75.
- (109) Puntus, L. N.; Schenk, K. J.; Bünzli, J.-C. G. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 4739.
- (110) Mudring, A. V.; Babai, A.; Arenz, S.; Giernoth, R.; Binnemans, K.; Driesen, K.; Nockemann, P. J. Alloys Compd. 2006, 418, 204.
- (111) Görller-Walrand, C.; De Jaegere, S. Spectrochim. Acta A 1972, 28, 2.57
- (112) O'Donell, T. A. Superacids and Acidic Melts as Inorganic Chemical Reaction Media; VCH: Weinheim, 1993 and references therein.
- (113) Anderson, C. J.; Choppin, G. R.; Pruett, D. J.; Costa, D.; Smith, W. Radiochim. Acta 1999, 84, 31.
- (114) Nikitenko, S. I.; Cannes, C.; Le Naour, C.; Moisy, P.; Trubert, D. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 9497.
- (115) Sornein, M. O.; Cannes, C.; Le Naour, C.; Lagarde, G.; Simoni, E.; Berthet, J.-C. Inorg. Chem. 2006, 45, 10419.
- (116) Görller-Walrand, C.; De Houwer, S.; Fluyt, L.; Binnemans, K. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2004, 6, 3292.
- (117) Servaes, K.; Hennig, C.; Van. Deun, R.; Görller-Walrand, C. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44, 7705.
- (118) Schoebrechts, J. P.; Gilbert, B. P. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2105.
- (119) Meyer, G. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 93.
- (120) Evans, W. J. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 206-207, 263.
- (121) Schoebrechts, J. P.; Gilbert, B. P.; Duyckaerts, G. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1983, 145, 127.
- Schoebrechts, J. P.; Gilbert, B. P.; Duyckaerts, G. J. Electroanal. (122)Chem. 1983, 145, 139.
- (123) Gau, W. J.; Sun, I. W. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1996, 143, 914.
- (124) Gau, W. J.; Sun, I. W. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1996, 143, 170.
- (125) Nagaishi, R.; Arisaka, M.; Kimura, T.; Kitatsuji, Y. J. Alloys Compd., in press.
- (126) Yamagata, M.; Katayama, Y.; Miura, T. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2006, 53, E5.
- (127) Delarue, G. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1959, 1, 185.
- (128) Lin, F. M.; Hussey, C. L. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1993, 140, 3093.
- (129) De Waele, R.; Heerman, L.; D'Olieslager, W. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1982, 142, 137.
- (130) De Waele, R.; Heerman, L.; D'Olieslager, W. J. Less-Common Met. 1986, 122, 319.
- (131) Dai, S.; Toth, L. M.; Hayes, G. R.; Peterson, J. R. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 256, 143.
- (132) Martinot, L.; Baré, D.; Michaux, C. J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 1993, 170, 389.
- (133) Bhatt, A. I.; Duffy, N. W.; Collison, D.; May, I.; Lewin, R. G. Inorg. Chem. 2006, 45, 1677.
- (134) Oldham, W. J., Jr.; Costa, D. A.; Smith, W. H. ACS. Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 188.
- (135) Bhatt, A. I.; May, I.; Volkovich, V. A.; Hetherington, M. E.; Lewin, B.; Thied, R. C.; Ertok, N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 2002, 4532.
- (136) Tsuda, T.; Nohira, T.; Ito, Y. Electrochim. Acta 2002, 47, 2817.
- (137) Hsu, H. Y.; Yang, C. C. Z. Naturforsch. 2003, 58b, 139.
- (138) Lodermeyer, J.; Multerer, M.; Zistler, M.; Jordan, S.; Gores, H. J.; Kipferl, W.; Diaconu, E.; Sperk, M.; Bayreuther. G. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2006, 153, C242
- (139) Baston, G. M. N.; Bradley, A. E.; Gorman, T.; Hamblett, I.; Hardacre, C.; Hatter, J. E.; Healy, M. J. F.; Hodgson, B.; Lewin, R.; Lovell,

K. V.; Newton, G. W. A.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Pitner, W. R.; Rooney, D. W.; Sanders, D.; Seddon, K. R.; Simms, H. E.; Thied, R. C. ACS Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 162.

- (140) Bradley, A.; Cogan, C. J.; Hanson, B. C.; Lewin, R. G.; Ogden, M. D.; Owens, S. L.; Pitner, W. R.; Rooney, D. W.; Sanders, D.; Smart, N. G.; Taylor, R. J.; Thied, R. C. World Patent WO 02/066712 A1, 2002
- (141) Giridhar, P.; Venkatesan, K. A.; Subramanian, S.; Srinivasan, T. G.; Vasudeva. Rao, P. R. Radiochim. Acta 2006, 94, 415.
- (142) Nash, K. L. Solvent Extr. Ion Exch. 1993, 11, 729.
- (143) Nash, K. L., Choppin, G. R., Eds. Separation of f-Elements; Plenum Press: New York, 1994.
- (144) Birkett, J. E.; Carrott, M. J.; Fox, O. D.; Jones, C. J.; Maher, C. J.; Roube, C. V.; Taylor, R. J.; Woodhead, D. A. Chimia 2005, 59, 898.
- (145) Visser, A. E.; Rogers, R. D. J. Solid State Chem. 2003, 171, 109.
- (146) Jensen, M. P.; Neuefeind, J.; Beitz, J. V.; Skanthakumar, S.; Soderholm, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15466.
- (147) Jensen, M. P.; Beitz, J. V.; Neuefeind, J.; Skanthakumar, S.; Soderholm, L. ACS. Symp. Ser. 2005, 901, 18.
- (148) Cocalia, V. A.; Jensen, M. P.; Holbrey, J. D.; Spear, S. K.; Stepinski, D. C.; Rogers, R. D. Dalton Trans. 2005, 1966.
- (149) Giridhar, P.; Vankatesan, K. A.; Srinivasan, T. G.; Vasudeva Rao, P. R. J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 2005, 265, 31.
- (150) Nakashima, K.; Kubota, F.; Maruyama, T.; Goto, M. Anal. Sci. 2003, 19, 1097.
- (151) Visser, A. E.; Jensen, M. P.; Laszak, I.; Nash, K. L.; Choppin, G. R.; Rogers, R. D. Inorg. Chem. 2003, 42, 2197.
- (152) Stepinski, D. C.; Young, B. A.; Jensen, M. P.; Rickert, P. G.; Dzielawa, J. A.; Dilger, A. A.; Rausch, D. J.; Dietz, M. L. ACS Symp. Ser. 2006, 933, 233.
- (153) Ouzdi, A.; Gadenne, B.; Hesemann, P.; Moreau, J. J. J.; Billard, I.; Gaillard, C.; Mekki, S.; Moutiers, G. Chem.-Eur. J. 2006, 12, 3074.
- (154) Matsumiya, M.; Tokuraku, K.; Matsuura, H.; Hinoue, K. J. Electroanal. Chem. 2006, 586, 12.
- (155) Choppin, G. R. Solvent Extr. Res. Devel., Jpn. 2005, 12, 1.
- (156) Birkett, J. E.; Carrott, M. J.; Fox, O. D.; Jones, C. J.; Maher, C. J.;
- Roube, C. V.; Taylor, R. J.; Woodhead, D. A. Chimia 2005, 59, 898. (157) Takada, J.; Hoshi, M. J. Environ. Radioact. 2000, 50, 43.
- (158) Allen, D.; Baston, G.; Bradly, A. E.; Gorman, T.; Haile, A.; Hamblett,. I.; Hatter, J. E. Healey, M. J. F.; Hodgson, B.; Lewin, R.; Lovell, K. V.; Newton, B.; Pitner, W. R.; Rooney, D. W.; Sanders, D.; Seddon,
- K. R.; Sims, H. E.; Thied, R. C. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 152. (159) Harmon, C. D.; Smith, W. H.; Costa, D. A. Radiat. Phys. Chem.
- 2001, 60, 157. (160) Fields, M.; Hutson, G. V.; Seddon, K. R.; Gordon. C. World Patent WO 98/06106, 1998.
- (161) Bradley, A. E.; Hatter, J. E.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Pitner, W. R.; Seddon, K. R.; Thied, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1692.
- (162) Bradley, A. E.; Hardacre, C.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Pitner, W. R.; Sanders, D.; Seddon, K. R.; Thied, R. C. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 901, 32
- (163) Bradley, A. E.; Hardacre, C.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Pitner, W. R.; Sanders, D.; Seddon, K. R.; Thied, R. C. Inorg. Chem. 2004, 43, 2503.
- (164) Song, C. E.; Yoon, M. Y.; Choi, D. S. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2005, 26, 1321.
- (165) Jorapur, Y. R.; Chi, D. Y. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2006, 27, 345.
- (166) Molander, G. A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 29.
- (167) Steel, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin. Trans. 1 2001, 2727.
- (168) Kagan, H. B.; Namy, J. L. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 6573.
- (169) Imamoto, T. Lanthanide Reagents in Organic Synthesis; Academic Press, London, 1994.
- (170) Molander, G. A.; Romero, J. A. C. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2161.
- (171) Sloan, L. A.; Procter, D. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 1221.
- (172) Kobayashi, S.; Sugiura, M.; Kitagawa, H.; Lam, W. W. L. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2227
- (173) Kobayashi, S. Synlett 1994, 689.
- (174) Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Kobayashi, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1157.
- (175) Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Matsuo, J.; Tsuchiya, T.; Kobayashi, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 2325.
- (176) Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2985.
- (177) Kobayashi, S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 15.
- (178) Li, C. J.; Chan, T. H. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 11149.
- (179) Chauhan, K. K.; Frost, C. G.; Love, I.; Waite, D. Synlett 1999, 1743.
- (180) Chakraborti, A. K.; Gulhane, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6749. (181) Olah, G. A.; Farooq, O.; Farnia, S. M. F.; Olah, J. A. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1988, 10, 2560. (182) Matsuo, J.; Odashima, K.; Kobayashi, S. Synlett 2000, 403.
- (183) Leonard, N. M.; Wieland, L. C.; Mohan, R. S. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 8373.
- (184) Desmurs, J. R.; Labrouillere, M.; Le Roux, C.; Gaspard, H.; Laporterie, A.; Dubac, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8871.

- (185) Repichet, S.; Le Roux, C.; Dubac, J.; Desmurs, J. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 2743.
- (186) Le Roux, C.; Dubac, J. Synlett 2002, 181.
- (187) Luo, S. Z.; Zhu, L. H.; Talukdar, A.; Zhang, G. H.; Mi, X. L.; Cheng, J. P.; Wang, P. G. *Mini-Rev. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *2*, 177.
- (188) Edmonds, D. J.; Johnston, D.; Procter, D. J. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 3371.
- (189) Mikami, K.; Mikami, Y.; Matsuzawa, H.; Matsumoto, Y.; Nishikido, J.; Yamamoto, F.; Nakajima, N. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 4015.
- (190) Song, C. E.; Shim, W. H.; Roh, E. O.; Choi, J. H. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1695.
- (191) Song, C. E.; Jung, D. U.; Choung, S. Y.; Roh, E. J.; Lee, S. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2004**, 43, 6183.
- (192) Ross, J.; Xiao, J. L. Green Chem. 2002, 4, 129.
- (193) Goodrich, P.; Hardacre, C.; Mehdi, H.; Nancarrow, P.; Rooney, D.
   W.; Thompson, J. M. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2006, 45, 6640.
- (194) Li, J. J.; Su, W.; Lin, J. D.; Chen, M.; Li, J. Synth. Commun. 2005, 35, 1929.
- (195) Song, C. E.; Shim, W. H.; Roh, E. J.; Lee, S. G.; Choi, J. H. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1122.
- (196) Zulfiqar, F.; Kitazuma, T. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 137.
- (197) Mi, X. L.; Luo, S. Z.; He, J. Q.; Cheng, J. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 4567.
- (198) Ji, S. J.; Zhou, M. F.; Gu, D. G.; Wang, S. Y.; Loh, T. P. Synthesis 2003, 2077.
- (199) Kim, E. J.; Ko, S. Y.; Song, C. E. Helv. Chim. Acta 2003, 86, 894.
- (200) Lee, S. G.; Park, J. H. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 2002, 23, 1367.
- (201) Zheng, X. L.; Zhang, Y. M. Synth. Commun. 2003, 33, 161.
- (202) Lee, S. G.; Park, J. W.; Kang, J. H.; Lee, J. K. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1698.
- (203) Keh, C. C. K.; Namboodiri, V. V.; Varma, R. S.; Li, C. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 4993.
- (204) Zulfiqar, F.; Kitazume, T. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 296.
- (205) Anjaiah, S.; Chandrasekhar, S.; Grée, R. J. Mol. Catal. A 2004, 214, 133.
- (206) Gu, Y.; Ogawa, C.; Kobyashi, J.; Mori, Y.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7217.
- (207) Handy, S. T.; Egrie, C. R. ACS Symp. Ser. 2002, 818, 134.
- (208) Khosropour, A. R.; Khodaei, M. M.; Ghozati, K. Chem. Lett. 2004, 33, 1378.
- (209) Khodaei, M. M.; Khosropour, A. Z.; Kookhazadeh, M. Synlett 2004, 1980.
- (210) Kamal, A.; Chouhan, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3337.
- (211) Kumar, A.; Jain, N.; Rana, S.; Chauhan, S. M. S. Synlett 2004, 2785.
- (212) Ho, T. L. Synthesis 1973, 347.
- (213) Nair, V.; Balagopal, L.; Rajan, R.; Mathew, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 21.
- (214) Binnemans, K. Applications of Tetravalent Cerium Compounds. In Handbook on the Physics and Chemistry of Rare Earths; Gschneidner,

K. A., Jr., Bünzli, J.-C. G., Pecharsky, V. K., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2006; Vol. 36, Chapter 229, p 281.

- (215) Bar, G.; Bini, F.; Parsons, A. F. Synth. Commun. 2003, 33, 213.
- (216) Xiong, Y. B.; Ling, F.; Shen, Z. Q. Chin. J. Catal. 2006, 27, 75.
- (217) Xiong, Y. B.; Ni, X. F.; Fan, L.; Shen, Z. Q. Chem. Lett. 2006, 35, 524.
- (218) Jacob, D. S.; Bitton, L.; Grinblat, J.; Felner, I.; Koltypin, Y.; Gedanken, A. Chem. Mater. 2006, 18, 3162.
- (219) Néouze, M. A.; Le. Bideau, J.; Leroux, F.; Vioux, A. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1082.
- (220) Lunstroot, K.; Driesen, K.; Nockemann, P.; Görller-Walrand, C.; Binnemans, K.; Bellayer, S.; Le Bideau, J.; Vioux, A. *Chem. Mater.* 2006, *18*, 5711.
- (221) Binnemans, K.; Görller-Walrand, C. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 2303.
- (222) Binnemans, K. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 4148.
- (223) Binnemans, K. Liquid-crystalline lanthanide complexes. In *Inorganic Chemistry in Focus II*; Meyer, G., Naumann, D., Wesemann, L., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2005; Chapter 15, pp 267–291.
- (224) Terazzi, E.; Suarez, S.; Torelli, S.; Nozary, H.; Imbert, D.; Mamula, O.; Rivera, J.-P.; Guillet, E.; Bénech, J.-M.; Bernardinelli, G.; Scopelliti, R.; Donnio, B.; Guillon, D.; Bünzli, J.-C. G.; Piguet, C. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2006, 16, 157.
- (225) Piguet, C.; Bünzli, J.-C. G.; Donnio, D.; Guillon, D. Chem. Commun. 2006, 3755.
- (226) Cardinaels, T.; Ramaekers, J.; Guillon, D.; Donnio, B.; Binnemans, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 17602.
- (227) Faul, C. F. J.; Antonietti, M. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 673.
- (228) Zhang, T. R.; Spitz, C.; Antonietti, M.; Faul, C. F. J. Chem.-Eur. J. 2005, 11, 1001.
- (229) Li, W.; Yi, S.; Wu, Y.; Wu, L. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 16961.
- (230) Sun, H.; Li, H.; Bu, W.; Xu, M.; Wu, L. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 24847.
- (231) Khosropour, A. R.; Khodaei, M. M.; Ghaderi, S. Z. Naturforsch. B 2006, 3, 326.
- (232) Alleti, R.; Oh, W. S.; Perambuduru, M.; Afrasiabi, Z.; Sinn, E.; Reddy, V. K. *Green Chem.* **2005**, *7*, 203–206.
- (233) Chen, R.; Yang, B. J.; Su, W. K. Synth. Commun. 2006, 36, 3167.
- (234) Li, Y.; Wu, C.; Huang, J.; Su, W. Synth. Commun. 2006, 36, 3065.
- (235) Su, X. Q.; Wu, D. B.; Chen, J.; Li, D. Q. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2007, 82, 267.
- (236) Kocher, J.; Gumy, F.; Chauvin, A. S.; Bünzli, J. C. G. J. Mater. Chem. 2007, 17, 654.
- (237) Giridhar, P.; Venkatesan, K. A.; Srinivasan, T. G.; Rao, P. R. V. *Electrochim. Acta* 2007, *52*, 3006.

CR050979C